UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Nikola Pavlović

Comparison of Irrigated Multi-Electrode Radiofrequency Ablation and Point-by-Point Ablation for Pulmonary Vein Isolation in Patients with Persistent Atrial Fibrillation

DISSERTATION



Zagreb, 2019

UNIVERSITY OF ZAGREB SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Nikola Pavlović

Comparison of Irrigated Multi-Electrode Radiofrequency Ablation and Point-by-Point Ablation for Pulmonary Vein Isolation in Patients with Persistent Atrial Fibrillation

DISSERTATION

Zagreb, 2019

Dissertation was done on Department of Cardiology, University Hospital Center Sestre milosrdnice Zagreb, Croatia and Department of Cardiology, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland.

Mentor: Prof. Diana Delić-Brkljačić, MD, PhD

Co-Mentor: Prof. Christian Sticherling, MD, PhD

I am grateful to my menthors and all my colleagues and coworkers for their help and support both with writing this PhD and throughout my career.

I would like to thank my whole family, especially my parents and my sister Ivana for their love and support.

Heartful thank to my wife Ana for encouragement, inspiration and understanding.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- AF atrial fibrillation
- BMI body mass index
- CBA cryoballoon ablation
- CI confidence interval
- CK creatin kinase
- $CS-coronary\ sinus$
- CRP C reactive protein
- DAP dose area product
- EHRA European Heart Rhythm Association
- ESC European Society of Cardiology
- FAM fast anatomical mapping
- HRS -Heart Rhythm Society
- INR international normalized ratio
- LA left atrium
- LVEF left ventricular ejection fraction
- NS-not significant
- PV pulmonary vein

PVI - pulmonary vein isolation

- IMEA irrigated multi-electrode ablation
- IMEA-PVI irrigated multi-electrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation
- NOAC novel oral anticoagulant
- RF radiofrequency
- RF-PVI radiofrequency pulmonary vein isolation
- RFA radiofrequency ablation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Atrial fibrillation	1
1.1.1 Definition and diagnosis	1
1.1.2 Types of atrial fibrillation and classification	2
1.1.3 Epidemiology	4
1.1.4 Electrophysiological mechanisms	6
1.2 Treatment options	8
1.2.1 Rate control	9
1.2.2 Rhythm control	10
1.2.2.1 Acute rhythm control	11
1.2.2.2 Maintenance of sinus rhythm	11
1.2.2.2.1 Antiarrhythmic drugs	11
1.2.2.2.2 Catheter ablation	12
1.2.3 Rate vs. rhythm control	13
1.2.4 Stroke/thromboembolism prevention	15
1.2.4.1 Vitamin K antagonists	16
1.2.4.2 Novel anticoagulant drugs	16
1.2.4.3 Left atrial appendage occlusion	17
1.2.5 Treatment of underlying disease	18

	1.3 Concept of pulmonary vein isolation		19
	1.4 Technique	es and technologies for pulmonary	
	vein isolat	tion	21
	1.4.1 Poin	t-by-point ablation	22
	1.4.1.1	Radiofrequency ablation	22
	1.4.1.2	Cryoablation	25
	1.4.2 ,'Sin	gle shot" devices and technologies	26
	1.4.2.1	Multielectrode circumferential catheters	26
	1.4.2.2	Cryoballoon ablation	29
	1.4.2.3	Laser and ultrasound	30
	1.4.2.4	Other technologies	31
	1.4.3 Role	of mapping systems in pulmonary	32
	vein	isolation	
2.	Hypothesis		34
3.	Aims		35
4.	Patients and	methods	36
	4.1 Patients		36
	4.2 Methods		38
	4.2.1 Prep	procedural management	38
	4.2.2 Elec	trophysiological procedure	38
	4.2.2.1	Irrigated multielectrode ablation	40

	4.2.2.2 Point-by-point radiofrequency ablation	42
	4.2.3 Postablation management	43
	4.2.4 Follow up	43
	4.2.5 Statistical analysis	43
5.	Results	44
	5.1 Baseline data	44
	5.2 Procedural characteristics	45
	5.3 Validation of pulmonary vein isolation	49
	5.4 Efficacy and safety	49
	5.5 Repeat procedures	50
6.	Discussion	52
	6.1 Acute success rate and validation of pulmonary	
	vein isolation	52
	6.2 Procedural characteristics	54
	6.3 Delivery of radiofrequency energy	56
	6.4 Procedure related complications	57
	6.5 Freedom from atrial fibrillation	59
7.	Conclusions	63
8.	Short summary in Croatian	64
9.	Short summary in English	66
10).References	68

11.Curriculum vitae

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Atrial fibrillation

1.1.1. Definition and diagnosis

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is a supraventricular arrhythmia characterized by fast and irregular electrical activation of the atria and loss of mechanical function. 12 lead ECG should be used to diagnose AF and any AF episode lasting long enough to be recorded on 12 lead ECG should be diagnosed as AF (1,2). If cardiac rhythm monitoring or strips are used, arrhythmia should last at least 30 seconds to be defined as AF. Three criteria should be met on 12 lead ECG to diagnose AF: 1. absolutely irregular R-R intervals; 2. No visible P waves and 3. If visible, atrial cycle length of less than 200 ms (**Figure 1.1**).

Atrial fibrillation is easily diagnosed in symptomatic patients by simple 12 lead ECG recording, however it may be difficult to diagnose atrial fibrillation in patient with self terminating paroxysmal AF and especially in asymptomatic patients (2). Therefore, guidelines recommend opportunistic screening for AF in patients older than 65 years with pulse taking or ECG recording, and systematic prolonged screening for AF in patients with previous stroke or transient ischaemic attack and patients with cardiac implantable devices (2). These approaches have been proven cost effective in mentioned populations at risk (2–5).

Figure 1.1 shows 12 lead ECG of atrial fibrillation. Absolutely irregular R-R intervals are seen and there are no visible P waves.



1.1.2. Types and classification of atrial fibrillation

Atrial fibrillation can present as overt, symptomatic arrhythmia or as silent, asymptomatic arrhythmia. Both symptomatic and asymptomatic AF can occur in the same patient (2).

Atrial fibrillation can be divided in five major types based on the presentation pattern and these are: 1. Paroxysmal AF is a self terminating episode of AF lasting less than 7 days (most often less than 48 h). Also, episodes cardioverted in the first 7 days should be considered as paroxysmal AF; 2. Persistent AF is episode of AF lasting more than 7 days, either self terminating or cardioverted after 7 days; 3. Long standing persistent AF is continuous AF that lasts more than one year; 4. Permanent AF is AF that lasts more than one year and when rhythm control strategies were abandoned and the atrial fibrillation has been accepted by the patient and the physician. 5. First diagnosed atrial fibrillation is an episode that has never been diagnosed before, irrespective of duration or symptoms. Definitions of types of atrial fibrillation are given in **Table 1.1.2**.

Table 1.1.2 Definitions for different types of atrial fibrillation. Adapted from ESC Guidelines on management of atrial fibrillation. AF – atrial fibrillation.

Type of AF	Definition	
Paroxysmal AF	Self terminating episode of AF lasting less	
	than 7 days (most often less than 48 h).	
	Also, episodes cardioverted in the first 7	
	days should be considered as paroxysmal	
	AF	
Persistent AF	Episode of AF lasting more than 7 days,	
	either self terminating or cardioverted after	
	7 days	
Long standing persistent AF	ag standing persistent AF AF that lasts more than one year, however	
	rhythm control strategy has been adopted	
Permanent AF	AF that lasts more than one year and when	
	rhythm control strategies were abandoned	
	and the atrial fibrillation has been accepted	
	by the patient and the physician	
First diagnosed AF	Episode that has never been diagnosed	
	before, irrespective of duration or symptoms	

Several other, clinical definitions such atrial fibrillation in structural heart disease, atrial fibrillation in athletes, focal atrial fibrillation, polygenic atrial fibrillation, postoperative atrial fibrillation etc are given by the 2016 ESC Guidelines (2) for management of patients with AF.

It is clear that these definitions are arbitrary and are used mainly for patient selection and treatment approach. However, based on the current data, types of atrial fibrillation have impact on treatment success rates (6,7). Also, depending on clinical types of atrial fibrillation, treatment of underlying disease such as valvular heart disease, hypertension, heart failure, renal failure, obesity, diabetes mellitus etc. may be required in selected patients.

In this research and document, definitions of persistent atrial fibrillation from HRS/EHRA/ECAS Expert consensus from 2012 were used (8) which are now consistent with the ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation and the new HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLEACE consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation (1,2).

1.1.3. Epidemiology

Atrial fibrillation (AF) is the most common cardiac arrhythmia in the general population (1,2) with a marked increase in incidence with age (9). It is estimated that AF occurs in 1-2% of the general population (10) (11). It has been strongly associated with increased age, hypertension, ischemic heart disease and heart failure (12). In 2010 it was estimated that more than 30 million people had atrial fibrillation (13) . The prevalence of AF is predicted to increase significantly in the years to come (14) (15) and could even double in the next 50 years (10) (16). There are, among others, three important reasons for this increase. First, the population in developed countries is aging with more people at risk for AF (17). Second, treatments of confounding factors for AF are leading to increased survival (hypertension, heart failure, valvular heart disease, diabetes mellitus, renal failure) of patients (17). Third, there is better detection of atrial fibrillation with ECG screening, Holter monitors, implantable devices and event recorders (18). Assuming that the prevalence of AF is 1% in the general population, it affects more than 5 million people in the European Union. These numbers are calculated conservatively for the general population, not taking into account differences in age distribution between countries and with the lowest described prevalence of 1%. Since many patients with AF are asymptomatic (up to one third) and many of patients actually never present to hospital for diagnosis

these numbers could actually represent underestimation (19) (5). However, although these numbers are high, they are lower than prevalence of other "modern epidemics" such as hypertension or diabetes.

The prevalence of AF is higher in men and it significantly increases with age. AF prevalence is <0.5% in people younger than 40 and reaches up to 15% in people older than 80 years (14) (20).

AF is associated with a decrease in functional status, quality of life and an increase in heart failure, stroke and mortality (10). AF has been shown to be an independent predictor of mortality with a 1.5 to 2.5 fold increase and these results are consistent in different trials (21). However, the increase in mortality is independent of commonly measured confounders such as hypertension, diabetes, obstructive sleep apnea and obesity. Since the mortality risk can only partially be explained by AF itself (tachycardia, irregular heart rhythm, loss of atrial systole, thromboembolism), other potential confounding factors likely coexist (myocardial fibrosis, systemic inflammation, endothelial dysfunction) which are not routinely measured.

Risk for stroke is also increased significantly in patients with AF. It is estimated that 20% strokes are due to AF and patients with AF tend to have more severe strokes (10). There are many confounding factors for development of atrial fibrillation (22) (23) such as hypertension, valvular heart disease, obesity, thyroid dysfunction, atrial septal defect and other congenital heart disease, renal disease, obstructive sleep apnoea, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, alcohol consumption, smoking (24–26). These conditions are all independent signs and markers of cardiovascular disease and also have role in initiation and perpetuation of atrial fibrillation by different mechanisms.

AF should be recognized as an independent predictor of mortality and management should be driven towards both treatment of AF as well as predisposing factors of AF.

1.1.4. Electrophysiological mechanisms

Two major factors were long thought to be necessary for atrial fibrillation. First is focal trigger that initiates atrial fibrillation and second anatomical and electrical substrate in the atria that supports further fibrillatory activity (27) (28). There were three main theories which tried to explain the mechanism of atrial fibrillation: multiple wavelet hypothesis, focal discharges, mainly from the pulmonary veins and localized reentry with fibrillatory conduction (1,29,30). Recent research based on computer models and experiments have lead to several more theories. One is functional reentry resulting from rotors and spiral waves. Rotor is an organizing center of the reentrant excitation which spins at exceedingly high frequencies, radiating spiral wavefronts and maintaining atrial fibrillation (1,31). Also recent research has shown that atrial fibrillation is maintained by dissociation between epicardial and endocardial layers, with production of multiplying activity that sustains the atrial fibrillation (1,32). Different mechanisms are shown on **Figure 1.1.4**

Figure 1.1.4 Different AF mechanisms. From Calkins et al Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation, Heart Rhythm, Vol 14, No 10, October 2017



As stated above, although there are several theories on atrial fibrillation mechanisms, it is clear that both focal triggers and reentry play a role in initiating and maintaining atrial fibrillation.

Regardless of the mechanism of AF, it is certain that sustained AF (even after 24 h), leads to complex electrical and anatomical remodelling of the atria, including changes in refractory periods of atrial cells, changes in ion channels and changes in conduction times (33). These changes further promote continuation of AF and lead to concept ,' atrial fibrillation begets atrial fibrillation'' (34).

First theory regarding AF mechanism was described and developed by Moe and associates (35). According to this hypothesis, multiple, random wavelets exist and propagate through the atria maintaining AF. And while this was the first and for a long time dominant theory, today other theories both clinical and experimental have been developed which probably better describe AF mechanism.

Focal discharges theory was described by Haissaguerre and associates as they found that the AF was often triggered by focal activity origination in the pulmonary veins (36). These foci could in theory be amenable for ablation which could lead to elimination of AF. Further research confirmed these findings, and based on these data ablation of atrial fibrillation targeting pulmonary veins developed in subsequent years.

After initial trigger from the pulmonary veins or anywhere in the atria, fibrillatory activity and reentry occur throughout the atria. In experimental models and in human atria, it was shown that atial remodelling leads to development of additional triggers and localized reentry in different parts of atria (27) (29). The longer the AF lasts, changes in the atria are more substantial. Changes in action potential duration, refractoriness, conduction velocity and frequency gradients promote reentry and perpetuation of AF (37). These changes are the reason that in paroxysmal AF PVs are the sites of triggering and high frequency activity and in persistent and long standing persistent, multiple triggers are present and dominant fibrillatory activity shifts from PV ostia to other parts of the both atria. Based on current knowledge and understanding of atrial fibrillation initiation and maintenance, elimination of triggers and modification of substrate present around the pulmonary vein ostia is the potential target for ablation. These mechanisms also explain why, paroxysmal AF is relatively easily targeted for ablation with better results than persistent AF (1,7).

1.2. Treatment options

Major impacts of AF are increase in mortality, stroke and the reduction of quality of life. Therefore, the goal in treatment of any patient with AF should be mortality and stroke reduction and improvement in quality of life. And while some of these goals have been achieved, others, such as mortality reduction is still not completely achieved or proven in current practice.

There are three major treatment "arms" in patients with atrial fibrillation and include rate control, rhythm control and prevention of stroke and systemic thromboembolism. Other are treatment of concomitant disease and confounding factors and upstream therapy (1,2).

1.2.1. Rate control

Rate control is often the first therapy of choice for atrial fibrillation. Before the development of antiarrhythmics and catheter ablation it was the most common prescribed therapy. Rate control therapy is part of AF management both in the acute phase and in long-term. In part of patient population with AF, rate control is sufficient to control symptoms(2).

Rate control can be achieved with beta blockers, digoxin, calcium channel blockers (verapamil and diltiazem) and also some antiarrhythmic drugs (amiodarone, dronedarone, sotalol).

In the acute phase, depending on strategy (rate vs. rhythm control), patients frequently require rate control due to symptoms related to heart rate.

Beta blockers and calcium channel blockers are preferred drugs in the acute phase because of their rapid onset of action. However, patient characteristics, as well as concomitant diseases should be evaluated and taken into account. For instance, calcium channel blockers should be avoided in heart failure and non selective beta blockers in patients with severe asthma. Frequently combination therapy will be required adding digoxin or amiodarone, where amiodarone can be added as rate control drug, particularly in patients with acute heart failure with reduced LVEF.

In long term rate control therapy, same drugs as for acute phase can be administered. Doses should be titrated to maximal tolerated dose with the goal of heart rate <100 bpm, avoiding bradycardia. To achieve these goals, usually combination therapy will be required. There are no universal guidelines for choice

of rate control therapy, rather, drugs and doses should be chosen on individual basis after considering patient characteristics and comorbidities.

In selected patients, permanent pacemaker implantation and AV node ablation can be considered when drug therapy fails to control the heart rate and symptoms. It is a procedure with low complication rates and high rate of long term success in controlling heart rate and symptoms. However, this procedure makes patients pacemaker dependant lifelong, and should be performed in carefully selected patients. In a proportion of patients with heart failure and reduced LVEF, biventricular pacing should be considered since the patients will be paced from the ventricle lifelong (38).

Although the guidelines recommend relatively strict rate control (heart rate <100/min), there is little scientific data to support this guideline(2). Therefore, Race II Trial (Lenient versus Strict Rate Control in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation) was conducted (39). In this study, 614 patients were randomized to either strict (<80/min) or lenient (<110/min) rate control strategy. After a follow up of 3 years, there was no difference between the two groups in primary outcome (composite of death from cardiovascular causes, hospitalization for heart failure, and stroke, systemic embolism, bleeding, and life-threatening arrhythmic events). Also, lenient rate control was easier to achieve. Based on these data, more lenient rate control strategy seems to be safe and effective for most of the patients with AF.

1.2.2. Rhythm control

Acute restoration of sinus rhythm and maintaining of sinus rhythm are part of the rhythm control strategy. Restoration and maintenance of sinus rhythm significantly improve symptoms in patients with AF, however although it may seem that sinus rhythm improves outcomes, all the studies so far have resulted in neutral results (40,41).

1.2.2.1 Acute rhythm control

Acute restoration of sinus rhythm can be achieved with almost all antiarrhythmic drugs in recent onset AF. AADs restore sinus rhythm in approximately 50% of patients (42). Most widely used drugs in Europe are Class Ic (flecainide and propafenone) and Class III drug amiodarone. The choice of AAD, same as drugs for rate control, depends on patients' characteristics, underlying disease and patients choice. Other option for restoring sinus rhythm in recent onset AF is electrical cardioversion. It is always first choice of treatment in patients with recent onset AF and haemodynamic instability (2)

Synchronized direct current cardioversion restores sinus rhythm more effectively and faster than medical treatment with AADs (43). The use of electrical cardioversion is associated with shorter hospital stay, however, it requires sedation/anesthesia and fasting.

1.2.2.2. Maintenance of sinus rhythm

After acute restoration of sinus rhythm, long term maintenance of sinus rhythm can be achieved with long term AAD treatment or catheter ablation.

1.2.2.2.1 Antiarrhythmic drugs

The goal of AF treatment with AADs is mainly to reduce the symptom burden. According to available data, the use of AADs doubles the sinus rhythm maintenance when compared to no treatment. Also the use of AADs is increases adverse events and some of the AADs potentially increase mortality (44). It should be noted that AADs improve symptoms and reduce the AF recurrence rates rather than completely eliminate the recurrence of AF (2,44). The choice of AAD is driven by patient's characteristics and underlying disease. Generally, safety rather than efficacy of each AAD should primarily be considered when choosing the AAD for prevention of AF recurrence.

1.2.2.2.2. Catheter ablation

Catheter ablation has evolved as a common treatment method for selected patients with paroxysmal, persistent and long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation. When performed in experienced, high volume centers, it is more effective than AADs in maintenance if sinus rhythm (45). Regardless on type of atrial fibrillation catheter ablation is more effective in maintaining sinus rhythm than AADs in patients who have recurrent AF on antiarrhythmic drugs (46). As a first line treatment (patients who were not taking AADs), catheter ablation also improves outcomes compared to AADs in patients with paroxysmal AF (45,47). It is significantly more effective as a first line treatment in younger and otherwise healthy patients (47).

Current guidelines indicate catheter ablation for prevention of AF recurrence and symptom control. Currently there are no indications for mortality reduction or withdrawal of anticoagulation treatment in patients in AF (2). Indications for catheter ablation of AF in patients with different types of AF according to current ESC guidelines are shown in **Tables 1.2.2.2.2.-1.2.2.2.4**, while techniques and technologies are discussed in detail later.

Paroxysmal AF	Recommendation	Class	Level of evidence
Symptomatic AF refractory to at least one antiarrhythmic drug	Catheter ablation is recommended	Ι	A
Symptomatic AF prior to initiation of antiarrhythmic therapy	Catheter ablation is reasonable	IIa	В

Table 1.2.2.2.3. Indications for catheter ablation in patients with persistent AF

Persistent AF	Recommendation	Class	Level of evidence
Symptomatic AF refractory to at least one antiarrhythmic drug	Catheter ablation is reasonable	IIa	В
Symptomatic AF prior to initiation of antiarrhythmic therapy	Catheter ablation is reasonable	IIa	С

Table 1.2.2.2.4. Indications for catheter ablation in patients with long standing persistent

AF

Long standing Persistent AF	Recommendation	Class	Level of evidence
Symptomatic AF refractory to at least one antiarrhythmic drug	Catheter ablation may be considered	IIb	С
Symptomatic AF prior to initiation of antiarrhythmic therapy	Catheter ablation may be considered	IIb	С

1.2.3 Rate vs. rhythm control

Although it seems as common sense that maintenance of sinus rhythm improves outcomes, many trials that have compared rate versus rhythm control strategies have failed to prove that rhythm control strategy is superior to rate control (40,48). One of the pivotal randomized controlled trials that compared these two strategies was AFFIRM study (41). AFFIRM study compared rate control to rhythm control strategies and found that the rates of complications and death were similar between two strategies.

However, subsequent subanalyses of AFFIRM trial have shown that rhythm control strategy (maintaining sinus rhythm) could be superior to rate control strategy. In the rhythm control group, adverse outcomes were mainly driven by AAD adverse events and discontinuation of anticoagulation therapy in patients in sinus rhythm (49). Further studies and registries have found no difference in outcomes (50,51), however one meta analysis of more than 7000 patients by Chatterjee et al in 2013 (48) reported lower all cause mortality with rhythm control in patients younger than 65 years. In the ablation era, large, multicentric randomized controlled trial CABANA was published in 2018. The trial randomized patients to ablation or antiarrhythmic drugs. The trial included 5 years follow up. At 5 years, there was no difference in the primary outcome (death, disabling stroke, serious bleeding, or cardiac arrest) - 8% vs. 9.2% (hazard ratio [HR] 0.86, 95% confidence interval [CI] 0.65-1.15, p = 0.3). However, there were significant number of crossovers between the arms (ablation to drug: 9.2%, drug to ablation: 27.5%) and when analyzed per treatment received, there was a significant reduction in death or CV hospitalization with ablation (52,53).

In selected group of patients with persistent AF and symptomatic heart failure, who were implanted with cardioverter defibrillator or cardiac resynchronization therapy, catheter ablation was with a significantly lower rate of a composite end point of death from any cause or hospitalization for worsening heart failure than medical therapy (54,55).

Although there is emerging evidence that maintenance of sinus rhythm, especially with catheter ablation improves patients' outcomes, until further evidence is available, current AF treatment practice is mainly symptom driven.

1.2.4. Stroke and thromboembolism prevention

Population based studies, cohorts and clinical trials have shown that AF carries an increased risk for thromboembolism and stroke. Also, during the years, risk factors for stroke in patients with AF have been identified (56).

Patients with AF and highest risk for stroke are those with "valvular AF" (patients with some types of valvular heart disease-mitral valve stenosis, heart valve prosthesis and after surgical repair of the mitral valve), patients with previous stroke or TIA, presence of left atrial appendage (LAA) thrombus or spontaneous echo contrast in LA and older age (>75 years).

And while in patients with valvular AF the indication for anticoagulation therapy is clear and driven by highest risk, several clinical risk calculators have been developed to evaluate risk of patients with "non valvular "AF and guide antithrombotic therapy.

Stroke risk has previously been assessed using the CHADS2 score which was developed Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation (SPAF) investigators and assigns 1 point for presence of cardiac failure, hypertension, age > 75y, diabetes and two points for history of stroke. Score of "0" was considered low risk, "1-2" moderate risk and >2 high risk for stroke (57). However, CHADS2 score did not include all clinically relevant stroke risks in population of patients with AF. Therefore, novel risk assessment scheme was developed, with CHA2DS2VASc which assigns 2 points for age >75y and previous stroke/TIA/peripheral thromboembolism and 1 point for each: congestive heart failure, hypertension, age 65-74, diabetes, vascular disease (myocardial infarction, prior revascularization, peripheral artery disease) and female sex(57)(58). Table shows CHA2DS2VASc risk factors and stroke risk depending on presence of these factors.

Anticoagulant therapy was shown to decrease the stroke risk in patients with AF (59). Also, until now, anticoagulant therapy is the only therapy proven to reduce mortality in patients with AF (60). There are several drugs drug groups and methods used for achieving anticoagulation and reducing the stroke risk

in patients with atrial fibrillation. First are vitamin K antagonists with most often used warfarin. Novel group of drugs called novel oral anticoagulants or non vitamin K oral anticoagulants (NOACs) or direct oral anticoagulants (DOACs). Interventional method used for stroke prevention in patients with high bleeding risk is occlusion of the left atrial appendage.

1.2.4.1. Vitamin K antagonists

This group of drugs, with warfarin being most widely used, were the first drugs used for reduction of thromboembolism and stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation (2). Warfarin reduces the risk of stroke by 60% compared to aspirin or no therapy showed a meta-analysis of 29 randomized controlled trials including more than 28000 patients(59). These drugs have narrow therapeutic interval, and the quality of anticoagulation control is a major determinant of efficacy and safety of vitamin K antagonists (61). The quality of anticoagulation is measured with time in therapeutic range (TTR), and when TTR is in adequate range, these drugs are effective in stroke prevention. Of note, these drugs are currently the only group of drugs used for stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation and rheumatic heart disease, moderate and severe mitral stenosis and in patients with mechanical heart valves (2,62).

1.2.4.2. Novel anticoagulants

Novel anticoagulants – non vitamin K antagonist oral anticuagulants (NOAC) have emerged as an alternative to warfarin and other vitamin K antagonists for prevention of thromboembolism and stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation (63,64). NOACs include dabigatran as a direct thrombin inhibitor and apixaban, edoxaban and rivaroxaban as factor Xa inhibitors. These drugs have predictable effect, shorter plasma half lives, less food and drug interactions and there is no need for monitoring. Randomized

controlled trials were conducted with these drugs where they proved to be non-inferior or superior to warfarin with regards to stroke reduction and risk of major bleeding reduction (65–68). These results were more or less confirmed in several population based registries and retrospective analyses (real world data) (69–71).

The use of NOACs is increasing rapidly in the western countries while the use of warfarin has significantly declined. The use of NOACs has surpassed the use of vitamin K antagonists in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (72,73).

Although novel anticoagulants have been compared in different studies, they have never been compared head to head in randomized controlled trials. Currently, one randomized controlled trial "Comparison of Efficacy and Safety Among Dabigatran, Rivaroxaban, and Apixaban in Non-Valvular Atrial Fibrillation" (DARING-AF) comparing NOACs is currently enrolling patients (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT02666157). The results are expected in 2019.

1.2.4.3. Left atrial appendage occlusion

Interventional left atrial appendage occlusion emerged as an alternative to anticoagulation in highly selected patients with atrial fibrillation, high risk of stroke and risk of or repetitive bleeding. The majority of data is derived from single center studies and registries. There are only few randomized trials with single device comparing left atrial appendage occlusion to anticoagulation with warfarin. These trials have shown that occlusion with WATCHMAN device is non inferior to warfarin in stroke prevention in patients with atrial fibrillation with lower risk of bleeding in long term (74,75). Although the use of LAA occlusion devices is on the rise especially in the patients with high risk of bleeding there are some concerns regarding this treatment – first of all, there is no clear evidence between left atrial appendage and stroke (76), the devices have been compared to warfarin (while there are new anticoagulant drugs with better safety and efficacy profile), the devices have not been compared to no

therapy at all, there are risks of serious complications of the procedure (77) etc. True efficacy and safety, as well as the use of these devices need to be confirmed in future and larger randomized controlled trials. LAA occlusion should be offered as a treatment option in patients with high risk of stroke who have reccurent, not controllable bleeding while on anticoagulant treatment.

1.2.5. Treatment of underlying disease

There are many diseases and conditions that increase the risk of AF and of AF related complications. Some of those are hypertension, heart failure, valvular heart disease, obesity, diabetes mellitus, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, obstructive sleep apnoea, renal disease and smoking. These risk factors increase the risk of AF by increasing the left atrial pressure and diastolic dysfunction (mitral stenosis or hypertension) or by systemic inflammation, increased systolic activity and increased fatty infiltration of the atria (2).

Aggressive treatment of these confounding factors in patients with AF has been shown to reduce the risk and incidence of AF, reduce symptoms, increase the success rates of AF ablation and improves maintenance of sinus rhythm after cardioversion (78–80).

Recently published RACE 3 trial randomized patients to standard heart failure and AF treatment or standard treatment plus additional four therapies: statins, mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors and cardiac rehabilitation with physical activity and dietary restrictions(81). After 12 months follow up, 75% of patients who underwent targeted therapy of underlying conditions were free from AF compared to 63% of patients with conventional treatment (P=0.042). Australian LEGACY trial evaluated long-term impact of weight loss and weight fluctuation on rhythm control in obese individuals with AF (82). It included 355 obese patients with atrial fibrillation who were offered weight management. Weight loss \geq 10% resulted in a 6-fold (95% confidence interval: 3.4 to 10.3; p < 0.001) greater probability of arrhythmia-free survival compared

with the other 2 groups. These studies have proven that today, except for classic treatment arms (anticoagulation, antiarrhythmics, ablation), more effort should be made in treatment of risk factors, weight loss and lifestyle changes in patients with atrial fibrillation.

1.3. CONCEPT OF PULMONARY VEIN ISOLATION

As described, one of the mechanisms for development of atrial fibrillation is automaticity, triggered activity or localized reentry originating from pulmonary veins. Anatomically, muscular sleeves extending from the atrial myocardium have been found in the pulmonary veins. These muscular bands are situated on epicardial surface of the ostium and are of different length (up to 25 mm from the ostium), width, arrangement and orientation. Also, different amount of gaps and fibrosis are found between the muscular fibbers. This provides the substrate for automaticity, triggered activity (potentially by dilatation and stretch) and localized reentry.

It was the pivotal work by Haissaguerre et al (83) in 1998 that described focal discharges from the pulmonary veins initiating atrial fibrillation. This study in 45 patients with drug refractory atrial fibrillation has identified the pulmonary veins as major sources of ectopic foci triggering AF. Also, it the same study the authors found that these respond to treatment with radiofrequency ablation. Although this pivotal research set grounds for ablation of atrial fibrillation, this procedure was associated with high incidence of pulmonary vein stenosis since the ablation was performed in the pulmonary veins (84). As a result, further research has lead to strategies for electrical or anatomical isolation of arrhythmogenic tissue around the pulmonary veins by ablation outside the ostia of the vein (85,86). Initially, segmental ostial ablation could be achieved in almost all patients, however long term success rates were modest (86). Next was circumferential PVI which includes circular ablation at the antra of ipsilateral veins. This method is similar to the procedure most widely used today – wide antral circumferential

ablation (WACA). Circumferential PVI and WACA have increased success rates of ablation of AF (87). Better success rates of circumferential PVI can be explained by several mechanisms: wider area of ablation may not only affect triggers in the pulmonary veins but also triggers in the PV antra, posterior wall and ligament of Marshall. It may also affect part of the arrhythmogenic substrate required for AF maintenance, not only the PV triggers (88). Antral isolation also affects the autonomic ganglia around the PVs, which have been shown to play a role in AF initiation and maintenance (89). Also, reduction of the atrial muscle mass may make multiple re-entries impossible.

And while PVI was and still is the cornerstone of AF ablation, especially paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, additional, more extensive ablation strategies have been developed during history for ablation of persistent atrial fibrillation. These included linear lesions such as roof line, mitral isthmus line or cavotricuspid isthmus line (90). Other were , 'box isolation'' of the PVs and the posterior wall, left atrial appendage isolation or ablation of complex fractionated atrial electrograms (91-93). One of the proposed strategies was ,'stepwise approach'' used by Bordeaux and Hamburg groups where different lesion sets are used in addition to PVI until sinus rhythm is achieved in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation (94). All these methods had promising results; however, they were usually reported by single centers with limited number of patients. When these results and outcomes were tested in larger studies, recurrence rates were usually higher. Other, novel strategies continue to emerge. These include ablation of potential areas that are critical for maintenance of atrial fibrillation (so called rotos). These are mapped with the use of multielectrode catheter or non-invasively by using body surface potential mapping (95,96). One of the most important trials in ablation of persistent AF was STAR AF 2 trial (97). In this trial, 589 patients were randomized to PVI alone, PVI plus linear lesions or PVI plus CFAE ablation. After 18 months of follow up there was no difference in success rates between three different strategies. Groups who underwent additional ablation lesions had higher fluoroscopy and procedure times and possibly higher complication rates. Star AF 2 trial has shown that PVI also remains the cornerstone of persistent AF ablation. All novel and experimental methods described will have to be compared head to head with PVI alone in multicentre, randomized manner to be validated and possibly accepted as widely used ablation methods.

Except for different "anatomical" approaches, different ablation targets and lesion sets, several different technologies have been developed to achieve PVI. These include different catheters, mapping systems and different energy sources that can be used for ablation of AF.

1.4. Techniques and technologies for pulmonary vein isolation

1.4.1 Point-by-point techniques

1.4.1.1. Radiofrequency ablation

Radiofrequency catheter ablation for cardiac arrhythmias was introduced by Huang et al in 1985 (98). Since then, it has become the most widely used energy source for treatment of cardiac arrhythmias. Development and improvement of catheters made radiofrequency ablation treatment with high safety and efficacy profile. RF ablation uses electromagnetic energy that is effectively transformed into thermal energy with the goal of irreversibly destroying arrhythmogenic substrate by heating. The mode of heating in RF energy is resistive. When the current passes the myocardium, heat is produced. Typical, frequency of 500 Hz is produced for RF ablation electrode and an indifferent electrode applied to the skin). From the tip of the catheter, current flows radially from the source, and resistive heating occurs mostly at the tissue electrode surface. From there, resistive heating decreases proportionally depending on distance. Deeper tissues are heated by the means of thermal conduction and follow general thermodynamic principles. For irreversible damage to the tissue, temperatures higher than 50 C are required. Histologically, RF energy lesions, typically show coagulation necrosis.

RF energy lesion size is proportional and dependant on achieved electrode-tissue contact, electrodetissue temperature, delivered power and electrode size(99). Other factors influencing lesion size are electrode orientation, electrode material, tissue composition (lesions are smaller in dense scar or in epicardium due to presence of fat), ablation duration etc (100). The lesion size is however, also limited by the tissue electrode temperature that limits adequate power delivery and deeper lesion formation. With increase in power, temperature at the electrode tip rises and when it reaches 100 C impedance rise occurs with coagulum formation, steam pops and tissue desiccation.

RF ablation became a standard for treatment of majority of cardiac arrhythmias. Standard 7F catheters with 4 mm tip have become the most widely used ablation catheters. However, their ability for creating lesions is limited to few millimetres from the electrode-tissue interference. To overcome these limitations, cooled tip catheters have been developed. Catheter tip is irrigated with saline (**Figure1.4.1.1-1**) to reduce the electrode-tissue temperature and allow for higher power delivery. Compared with non irrigated RF delivery, cooled (irrigated) ablation allows delivery of higher powers and longer durations of RF ablation (101).

For atrial fibrillation, non irrigated 4 and 8 mm tip catheters have been used initially for either ectopic foci ablation and for pulmonary vein isolation (102). Theoretical advantages of irrigated tip catheters, primarily ability to produce transmural lesions, have been proven in clinical trials (102,103). Today, irrigated tip catheters have completely replaced standard non irrigated catheters for AF ablation, mostly due to lower risk of steam pops, char and coagulum formation and lower thromboembolic risk (104).

In addition to different electrode sizes and open irrigation, contact force sensors have been incorporated in novel generation ablation catheters which provides operator with live tissue-electrode contact feedback. With the use of these catheters, outcomes of ablation have been further improved....

Point-by-point irrigated tip catheter RF ablation has become the gold standard for PVI. It requires deployment of RF lesions with the catheter tip one point at the time and creates a continuous circumferential line around the ipsilateral pulmonary veins as described previously (**Figure 1.4.1.1-2**). To achieve durable isolation, each lesion, ideally has to be transmural and continuous with previous lesions. This can be time consuming, requires operator experience and volume.

Figure 1.4.1.1.-1 4 mm tip open irrigated catheter



Figure 1.4.1.1.-2 Point-by-point radiofrequency pulmonary vein isolation. Left atrium is shown from posterior view. Left sided veins are isolated by application of ablation points one at the time until full circle around the PV antrum is achieved (A-D).



1.4.1.2 Cryoablation

First application of cryoenergy on myocardial tissue was described in 1948 (105) and the first application on conduction system ablation was performed in 1964 (106). Since then, focal cryoablation technology improved and cryoablation is more widely used in cardiac electrophysiology for various clinical indications (107).

Lesion formation with cryoablation relies on freezing and thawing the tissue in contact with the catheter. Mechanisms of tissue injury can be divided in three phases: the freeze-thaw phase, the hemorrhage and inflammation phase, and the fibrosis phase (108).

Similar to RF ablation, lesions formed with cryoablation are dependent on electrode size, electrode tissue contact, duration of ablation, electrode temperature.

The potential advantages of cryoablation include better catheter stability, potential reversibility of initial lesions, less thromboembolic complications due to less tissue disruption and less pain during the procedure (108). This is why cryoablation is widely used in children and in critical locations like para Hisian accessory pathways (108,109).

Regarding PVI, point-by-point cryoablation was proven to have similar success rates compared to RF point-by-point ablation, however with significantly longer procedure and fluoroscopy times, rendering cryoablation impractical (108,110,111). There are also concerns regarding nontransmurality of lesions with cryoablation particularly for endocardial ablation of epicardial autonomic ganglia. This is why, for atrial fibrillation ablation, point-by-point cryoablation is abandoned, especially after development of ''single shot'' cryoballoon.

1.4.2 ,'Single shot' technologies

With the goal to produce more predictable and continuous lesions and potentially shorten the PVI procedures, catheters that create circumferential lesions with single or only several applications have been developed. As for point-by-point ablation, these catheters are different in design and use different energy sources.

1.4.2.1 Multielectrode circumferential catheters

There are two multielectrode ablation catheters in clinical use. The first one is PV ablation catheter (PVAC, Medtronic) and the other one is irrigated multielectrode ablation catheter nMarq (Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA). The PVAC catheter consists of 10 platinum iridium electrodes that deliver duty-cycled bipolar or unipolar RF energy (temperature controlled and power limited) (1). Initial experience with the catheter has shown it has good clinical efficacy (112), however, it showed to have higher incidence of asymptomatic cerebral embolism and stroke (104). After catheter and protocol modifications these complications were significantly reduced while efficacy remained comparable to standard point-by-point ablation (113,114).

Irrigated multielectrode ablation catheter (nMarq) consists of 10 platinum-coated electrodes. Electrodes are 3 mm and have 4 mm interelectrode distance. It is irrigated through 10 holes in each electrode (Figure 1.4.2.1-1). Radiofrequency ablation is performed via all 10 electrodes simultaneously or by selecting only some of the electrodes. RF energy delivery can be up to 25 W in unipolar mode or up to 15 W in bipolar mode. Energy delivery can be tailored and controlled on the nMarq console (Figure 1.4.2.1-2)

This circular catheter can be used both for mapping, creating 3D map in conjunction with the CARTO mapping system, and ablation.

Initial single and multicenter studies have shown it to be highly effective in achieving acute pulmonary vein isolation with 12 months success rates similar to point- by-point radiofrequency ablation (115–119). However, at that time there was almost no experience with this catheter in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. Also, there were some concerns in initial reports regarding complication rates such as atrio-esophageal fistula or silent cerebral embolism (120–122).
Figure 1.4.2.1-1 shows the ablation electrodes of the nMarq catheter. Electrodes are 3 mm long with 4 mm interelectrode distance. Irrigation holes are seen on each of the electrodes.



Figure 1.4.2.1-2 the control panel of the nMarq console. Temperature and power can be selected and controlled for each of the 10 ablation electrodes. During the ablation one or more electrodes can be turned on or off.

	100 ã		-	1	15	÷					
EQ.2	Thermodes		1	2							
CU11 - C [[]	W	11.9	20.3	29.1	16.7	15.8	19,5	17.3	13.7	16.3	15.4
a had not been been	100	418	34	10 H		40.4		38.3	48.2	38.5	4010
	D						64		- 44	60	
	III WORKS	280	1000				12450	1.45	E RAIL	ER.	EAST.
CONTROL OF STREET, STR	TOHOMAST		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	-			47.0		w	125		000	60	
AND IN COLUMN	110111										
	(RR)	1	-								
0	111111										
60	12										
00	Cal ments	eUlebola	2 3	ELC.	1	-	11 11	COMP.	1	MA	RG
	Concernant of		0	3	11		10			-	240
			6		100	9	7 V				-1
16											

1.4.2.2 Cryoballoon ablation

Most widely used balloon based system for pulmonary vein isolation is the cryoballoon ablation system (1). Today it has proven to be a valid alternative to standard radiofrequency point-by-point ablation. The system consists of noncompliant balloon in two sizes and has an injection and exhaust lumen for nitrous oxide injection, a central lumen for guide wire or circular catheter

positioning and contrast injection (123). The first generation catheter was introduced more than a decade ago, while second generation was introduced in 2012(1). Second generation balloon distributes the coolant (nitrous oxide, N2O) more homogenously and thereby increases the effective surface area of the

balloon (123). Pivotal trial which lead to FDA approval of cryoballoon was STOP AF randomized controlled trial which compared PVI with cryoballoon and antiarrhythmic drugs in patients with paroxysmal AF. It showed significantly higher freedom from atrial fibrillation after 12 months in patients treated with ablation (69.9% vs. 7.3%) (124). After that, numerous single center, non randomized trials showed similar efficacy of cryoballoon ablation and standard radiofrequency ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (125–127). FIRE AND ICE, one of the largest randomized controlled trials in atrial fibrillation ablation compared cryoballoon ablation versus standard point-by-point radiofrequency ablation in 762 patients (128). The trial showed that cryoballoon ablation was non-inferior to radiofrequency ablation. However, secondary endpoints, rates of rehospitalisation and need for additional ablations were in favor of cryoballoon (129). Several single center, non-randomized studies have also shown similar efficacy of cryoballoon ablation vs. radiofrequency ablation in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation(130,131).

1.4.2.3 Laser and ultrasound

Laser balloon system uses light energy to achieve pulmonary vein isolation. The balloon itself is compliant, allowing for different sizes and can adopt for different pulmonary vein sizes. It also has an endoscope allowing for ablation under direct visualization. Although it was constructed as a potential single shot device, it usually requires additional balloon rotations and repositioning for achieving pulmonary vein isolation. A prospective, multicenter randomized trial compared the efficacy and safety of visually guided laser balloon with standard point-by-point irrigated radiofrequency ablation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (132). After 12 months follow up, there was no difference in efficacy (61% vs. 61.7% freedom from symptomatic atrial fibrillation). Phrenic nerve palsy occurred more often in laser balloon ablation patients (3.5% vs. 0.6%; P 0.05), but PV stenosis was less common (0.0% vs. 2.9%; P 0.03) (132). This technology has been approved in Europe and in United States for

treating patients with drug refractory paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. It has not been tested in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation.

Ultrasound ablation was first developed as a balloon based system called high intensity focused ultrasound (HAIFA) ablation system (133). Although this system has been found to be effective in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (134), it was withdrawn from the market due to high incidence of severe complications including death (135).

New low-intensity collimated ultrasound ablation system is being developed, which automatically creates a map of the left atrium, and then the operator defines the ablation lines which are then created automatically. This system has been shown effective in a procine model, while clinical trials are ongoing.

1.4.2.4 Other technologies

Novel technologies are constantly being developed with the goal of improving success rates or shortening and simplifying the AF ablation procedures. These include imaging guided ablation (MRI), mapping the AF drivers in the form of the form of high-frequency reentrant sources (rotors) either by intracardiac or body surface mapping or development of novel ablation catheters as radiofrequency balloon or new catheter (Globe®) with a distal multielectrode array consisting of 16 ribs with 122 gold-plated electrodes (136). And while all the novel technologies show promising results, they all still lack multicentric data as well as data derived from randomized controlled trials.

1.4.3 Role of mapping systems in pulmonary vein isolation

Mapping and ablation in the left or right atria require adequate navigation and creating ablation lines with different technologies and energy sources. Historically, first procedures were performed using fluoroscopy solely. Electro anatomical mapping systems combine anatomical and electrical data and allow for accurate 3D reconstruction of the cardiac chambers, in the case of PVI, of atria and pulmonary veins. Currently there are several electro anatomical mapping systems used in clinical practice and several of them under development. Most widely used is CARTO system from Biosense Webster (CARTO 3; Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) which has magnetic and impedance (current) based catheter localization (1,137). The NavX Ensite Precision system from St. Jude Medical (St. Jude, St. Paul, MN, USA) is based on impedance-based catheter visualization (1,137). It has recently been modified to also provide magnetic based navigation, which has improved the precision of the system. The third mapping system is the magnetic electrical Rhythmia mapping system (Boston Scientific, Marlborough, MA, USA) which has been used only for several years so the experience so far is limited (1). 3D images obtained with mapping systems can be combined with intracardiac ultrasound images, CT or MRI which further improves accuracy of these maps (138,139).

The routine use of electroanatomical mapping systems has proven to significantly reduce fluoroscopy use (137,140,141) or even bring it to zero (142), reduce procedure duration and improve safety of the procedure (1,137). In addition to anatomical reconstruction, novel generations of mapping systems allow for intracardiac electrogram analysis and creation of voltage maps which allow for understanding and ablation of AF substrate (137). In addition to that, high density mapping is achievable with use of multielectrode catheters and mapping systems software. With the contact force catheters and mapping systems, real time catheter tissue contact is available, further improving efficacy and safety of ablation procedures (143,144). Combination of contact force sensing catheters and mapping systems allows for application of RF energy at desired location and formation of continuous lesions. Also, different mathematical models have been developed to assess lesion quality, size and depth to predict and improve

outcomes. With the use of strict protocols regarding lesion depth and contiguity used by the mapping system results in durable PVI and improved patient outcomes (145)

Use of the mapping systems increases the cost of the procedure, however majority of PVI procedures today are performed in conjunction with some of these three mapping systems (1).

2. HYPOTHESIS:

Acute success rates defined as electrical isolation of the pulmonary veins using Irrigated Multi-Electrode Radiofrequency Ablation compared to current standard point-by-point ablation are similar in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation.

One year outcomes of pulmonary vein isolation using Irrigated Multi-Electrode Radiofrequency Ablation is comparable to current standard point-by-point ablation are similar in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation.

Procedural parameters and complication rates are similar between two methods.

3. AIMS:

Primary aims of the study are:

- To evaluate acute efficacy of irrigated multielectrode ablation in achieving pulmonary vein isolation in comparison to standard point-by-point radiofrequency ablation in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation
- 2. To evaluate 12 months success rate of irrigated multielectrode ablation in comparison to standard point-by-point radiofrequency ablation (defined as freedom from AF or atrial tachycardia in patients persistent atrial fibrillation)

Secondary aims of the study are:

- 1. To evaluate procedural details: procedure duration (defined as vascular access to sheath removal), radiofrequency ablation time (total net ablation time with each of the catheters and cumulative ablation time for the IMEA catheter), fluoroscopy time, and total radiation dose.
- 2. To evaluate and compare procedure-related complications.

4. PATIENTS AND METHODS

4.1. Patients

The study population consisted of 49 consecutive patients with symptomatic persistent AF from the prospective "Basel Atrial Fibrillation Pulmonary Vein Isolation" (BEAT-AF-PVI) cohort study. Persistent AF was defined according to current guidelines (1,2). Pulmonary vein isolation is a standard first time procedure for patients with persistent AF at our institution. Additional substrate modification in the atria is not performed in the first procedure in patients with no documented atrial tachycardia or atrial flutter. Twenty-four patients underwent PVI using the IMEA catheter, and twenty five patients undergoing PVI using a 3.5 mm irrigated tip catheter served as a control group. Patients were included consecutively in both groups, and the IMEA-PVI group patients were included consecutively after the IMEA catheter became available.

Patients with paroxysmal or long-standing persistent AF, history of any previous left atrial procedure (surgical or percutaneous), with documented left atrial tachycardia or atrial flutter requiring additional ablation lines were excluded from the study. Also, patients with contraindication for pulmonary vein isolation (mainly left atrial appendage thrombus) or those not able to provide informed consent were excluded from the study.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria are shown in Table 4.1.

All patients provided informed consent and the study was approved by local Ethics committee.

 Table 4.1 inclusion and exclusion criteria for the current study

Inclusion criteria

- Symptomatic persistent atrial fibrillation (defined as AF episode lasting more than 7 days and less than one year. Also, any episode that was cardioverted to sinus rhythm after 7 days was defined as persistent AF)
- Scheduled for first ablation procedure
- Age 18-80 years
- Signed informed consent

Exclusion criteria

- Inability to provide informed consent
- Asymptomatic patients
- Paroxysmal or long standing persistent AF
- Any previous left atrial ablation procedure (percutaneous or surgical)
- Documented atrial tachycardia or flutter
- Left atrial thrombus
- Severe bleeding diathesis

4.2. Methods:

4.2.1. Pre-procedural management

The study was approved by the local ethics committee, and all patients provided informed consent both for the procedure and participation in the study. Atrial fibrillation was verified in a 12 lead ECG in all patients. Standard laboratory testing was performed in all patients and included full blood count, BUN, serum creatinine level, serum electrolytes, CRP and coagulogram including INR.

All subjects underwent transthoracic electrocardiography where standard preprocedural measures were taken (left ventricular ejection fraction, left atrial diameter from parasternal long axis, left atrial volume, valvular function). Also transesophageal echocardiography was performed to rule out left atrial thrombus before the procedure in all patients. Left atrial anatomy was assessed in all patients using cardiac magnetic resonance imaging prior to the procedure. Oral anticoagulation was not interrupted for the procedure according to current recommendations. In patients on warfarin, INR 2-3 was targeted before the ablation, and the drug was withheld on the morning of the procedure. In patients on dabigatran and apixaban, last dose was given the night before the procedure and withheld one the morning of the procedure. Patients on rivaroxaban taking the drug in the morning were switched to take the last dose of rivaroxaban the night before the procedure. First dose of NOACs was given 4-6 hours after pulling the sheaths and achieving hemostasis.

4.2.2. Electrophysiological procedure

All PVI procedures were performed under conscious sedation using fentanyl, midazolam and propofol according to local protocol. The right femoral vein was used for vascular access in all cases. Two sheaths were positioned in patients undergoing irrigated multielectrode ablation (one short 8F sheath and one long 8.5 F transseptal sheath) and three sheaths in patients undergoing standard point-by-point

radiofrequency ablation (one short 8F sheath and two long 8.5F transseptal sheaths). A 7F, decapolar, deflectable diagnostic catheter (EZSteer, Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA) was positioned in the coronary sinus as a reference and for pacing. Transseptal puncture was performed under fluoroscopic guidance with standardized protocol (146). Coronary sinus catheter was used for anatomic orientation, and transseptal puncture was performed using contrast injection and pressure control. After transseptal puncture, intravenous heparin was administered to achieve and maintain an activated clotting time (ACT) >350 seconds and ACT was monitored every 15 minutes during the procedure. Additional heparini doses were administered depending of ACT values. The sheaths were continuously flushed with heparinized saline. Intracardiac electrograms and surface electrograms were recorded and displayed at a speed of 100 mm/s. The endpoint was entrance block in all patients (elimination of all PV potentials on the circumferential mapping catheter – **Figure 4.2.2**) according to the current consensus (1,8). Pacing manoeuvres were used to differentiate far-field signals from pulmonary vein potentials. All procedures were performed in conjunction with an electroanatomical mapping system (Carto3, Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) and the reconstructions from magnetic resonance imaging were imported and used for guidance for mapping of the left atrium and the pulmonary veins.

Figure 4.2.2. Endpoint of pulmonary vein isolation – entrance block. Catheter is positioned in the right inferior pulmonary vein. A before ablation, far-field atrial and PV potentials are seen. B after the ablation, only far-field atrial signals are seen.



4.2.2.1. Irrigated multi-electrode ablation (IMEA-PVI group)

An esophageal temperature probe with 3 poles was positioned in all patients (Sensitherm, St. Jude, MN, USA) and the alert limit was set to 38°C. Single transseptal puncture was performed using the SL1 sheath (St. Jude Medical) which was then and replaced for a steerable sheath (Agilis Nxt, St. Jude Medical). A 20-pole circumferential mapping catheter (Lasso 2515, Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA) was used to create the 3D-electroanatomic map of the left atrium using the "fast anatomical mapping" (FAM) feature of Carto3mapping system. After connecting the deflectable and adjustable decapolar IMEA catheter (nMARQ, Biosense Webster, Diamond Bar, CA, USA), an idle flow rate of 4 ml/min. was chosen for irrigation. After positioning the catheter at the antrum of each PV, ablation was performed. All ablations were performed in a unipolar mode for 30-40 seconds and a starting power of

15 Watts (flow rate 60 ml/min.) per lesion on all 10 electrodes with presumed tissue contact. The assessment of tissue contact was based on signal quality, electrode position, the "tissues connect" feature of the Carto3 system and tactile feedback. If no signals were recorded on an electrode or one part of the catheter was within the PV, RF delivery was disabled on selected electrodes. Power was titrated up to a maximum of 18 Watts at the posterior wall and 20 Watts at the anterior wall if needed. Temperature, power and impedance were closely monitored throughout the energy application on the nMARQ generator. Total catheter ablation time and cumulative ablation times were recorded for the IMEA catheter. Total catheter ablation time was defined as the total time that IMEA catheter was used for RF ablation, regardless of the number of electrodes used, as reported by the nMARQ generator. Cumulative ablation time for the IMEA catheter was defined as the sum of all RF ablations by all electrodes delivering RF energy. This time represents the total delivered RF energy in the left atrium. Points were taken on the mapping system to locate each energy application for both technologies, and each was taken after achieving 10 s of ablation (Figure 4.2.2.1). Ablation was stopped if one of the three temperature sensors reached the pre-defined threshold of 38°C. If a PV could not be isolated using the IMEA catheter, a standard focal irrigated-tip ablation catheter (Thermocool SF, Biosense Webster) was used to complete PVI. PV isolation was confirmed using the standard 20-pole circumferential mapping catheter in all patients. All complications were classified according to the HRS/EHRA/ECAS expert consensus statement on AF ablation.(8) All catheter-related technical issues were documented and collected.

Figure 4.2.2.1 ablation points with different technologies – A RV PVI; B IMEA PVI. Both figures show postero-anterior view of the left atrium. The number and distribution of ablation tags represent cumulative energy delivered for ablation and could potentially have clinical implications.



4.2.2.2. Point-by-point radiofrequency ablation (RF-PVI group)

Double transseptal puncture was performed in all patients using SL-1 sheaths (St. Jude Medical). A 20pole circumferential mapping catheter (Lasso 2515, Biosense Webster) was advanced into the left atrium and mapping of the left atrium was performed using FAM. RF-PVI was performed using a 3.5 mm open irrigated-tip catheter (Thermocool SF, Biosense Webster). The 3D-reconstruction of the left atrium was used to guide the continuous circumferential antral ablation around the ipsilateral PVs. RF energy was delivered using the EP Shuttle RF generator (Stockert, Freiburg, Germany) with a power of up to 30 Watts and a maximum temperature of 50°C. Power at the posterior wall was limited to 25 Watts. Total ablation time was recorded. With the standard 3.5 mm irrigated tip catheter, cumulative RF time is equal to total catheter ablation time.

4.2.3. Post-ablation management

After sheath removal all patients were monitored overnight. Transthoracic echocardiography was performed in all patients after the procedure to rule out pericardial effusion. The first dose of NOACs was given four hours after achieving hemostasis and Vitamin-K antagonists were resumed the night of the procedure (147) (148). Oral anticoagulation was continued for at least 3 months after the procedure in all patients and after that according to CHA₂DS₂VASC score criteria (8). 12 lead ECG was performed the next day. Patients were discharged the day after the procedure if no complications occurred.

4.2.4. Follow-up

Follow-up was performed at 3, 6, 9 and 12 months. Every follow up included patient history, physical examination, 12 lead ECG recording and 24 hour Holter ECG. After 12 months, 7 day Holter ECG was performed. Episodes of AF lasting more than 30 seconds or atrial tachycardia were counted as recurrences (8). Recurrence rates were analyzed without a blanking period.

4.2.5. Statistical analysis

Continuous variables are presented as mean \pm one standard deviation or as median and interquartile range (IQR) in case of skewed distribution. For continuous variables, comparisons were made using Student's T-test, or Mann-Whitney U test, as appropriate. Discrete variables were compared using Fisher's exact test. A p-value <0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance. Calculations were made using SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY, USA).

5. RESULTS:

5.1. Baseline data:

A total of 49 patients were included in our study. Patients had a mean age of 60+9 years and 82% were men. The mean left atrial size in the parasternal long axis was 43+5 mm with no significant difference between groups.

Left ventricular ejection fraction was 55% (47–60%). Atypical PV anatomy (left common ostium or three separate right PVs) was identified in four patients (17%) in the IMEA-PVI group and in five patients (20%) in the RF-PVI group. There were no significant differences Baseline characteristics of the patients are shown in Table. No significant differences were found between the two groups in general patient characteristics.

	Total, N=49	RF-PVI, N=25	IMEA-PVI, N=24	P value
Age (years)	60±9	60±7	59±10	0.69
Male (n)	40 (82)	22(88)	18(75)	0.42
BMI				
Hypertension	37(75)	17(68)	20(83)	0.37
Diabetes	5(10)	2(8)	3(13)	0.91
CAD	7(14)	3(12)	4(17)	0.92
AADs				
Amiodarone	26(53)	14(56)	12(50)	0.89
Dronedarone	2(4)	2(8)	0(0)	0.49
Flecainide	8(16)	3(12)	5(21)	0.64
Sotalol	1(2)	0(0)	1(4)	0.98
OAC				
Vit K	29(59)	15(60)	14(58)	0.88
antagonists				
NOAC	20(41)	10(40)	10(42)	0.96
EHRA scoreI-	0/24/25/0	0/14/11/0	0/10/14/0	0.49
IV				
CHA2DS2VASc	1.7±1.1	1.6±1.2	1.9±1.0	0.34
score				
HAS BLED	1 (0.75-1)	1 (0-1)	1 (1-1.5)	0.15
score				

 Table 5.1-1 baseline demographic data of patients included in this study.

AAD – antiarrhythmic drug; BMI body mass index; CAD coronary artery disease; OAC oral anticoagulation; NOAC. Novel oral anticoagulant; EHRA – European heart rhythm association. RF-PVI, point-by-point radiofrequency ablation group; IMEA-PVI irrigated multielectrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation group;

5.2. Procedural characteristics:

Acute isolation of all PVs using the IMEA catheter was achieved in 22 of 24 (92%) patients and 92 of 94 (98%) PVs compared with 25 of 25 patients (100%) in the RF-PVI group. In 2 (8%) patients and 2 (2%) PVs in the IMEA group, additional ablation with a standard 3.5 mm irrigated-tip catheter was required. In one patient, after a total catheter ablation time of 29.4 min and a cumulative ablation time of 140.5 min, additional point-by-point ablation was needed to achieve isolation of the right inferior PV.

In a second patient, after a total catheter ablation time of 15.1 min and a cumulative ablation time of 88.5 min, additional ablation was needed for isolation of the left inferior PV.

Procedure duration, fluoroscopy time, and dose area product (DAP) in the IMEA group were 125+23 min, 12.2 (11–16.1) min, and 3163 (1738–4865) μ Gy m2, respectively. Procedure duration did not differ between the two groups; however, fluoroscopy duration and radiation dose were significantly higher in the IMEA-PVI group. Total net catheter ablation time with IMEA catheter was 11.8 (10.2–15.4) min. This was markedly shorter compared with the ablation time with the 3.5 mm tip catheter. However, cumulative ablation time with the IMEA catheter was much higher with 75.1 (63.2–113.5) min (P = 0.001). Procedural details for both groups are given in **Tables 5.2-1-4.** Difference between net and cumulative ablation times are shown in the **graph 5.2**.

	Total, N=49	RF-PVI, N=25	IMEA-PVI, N=24	P value
Procedure duration (min)	127±27	127±31	125±23	0.79
Fluoroscopy time (min)	9.9 (4.9-14.5)	5.2 (4.1-9.3)	12.2 (11-16.1)	<0.001
DAP (mcGym2)	1924 (1087- 3612)	1337 (944- 1989)	3163 (1738- 4865)	<0.001

Table. 5.2-1 Procedural parameters - procedure duration, fluoroscopy duration and dose

DAP dose area product. RF-PVI, point- by-point radiofrequency ablation group; IMEA-PVI irrigated multielectrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation group;

	Total, N=49	RF-PVI, N=25	IMEA-PVI, N=24	P value
Number of PVs	193	99	94	
PV anatomy				
3 PVs (left	6(12)	3(12)	3(13)	1
common)				
4 PVs	40(82)	20 (80)	20 (83)	0.92
5 PVs	3(6)	2(8)	1(4)	0.99
Ablation in AF	31 (63)	17(68)	14(58)	0.56
(%)				
Conversion to	7 (14)	5(29)	2(14)	0.42
sinus with RFA				
(%)				
Cardioversion	24 (49)	12(71)	12(86)	1
(%)				

Table 5.2-2. Procedural data. Baseline anatomical data and rhythm characteristics during the ablation.

AF, atrial fibrillation; RF-PVI, point-by-point radiofrequency ablation group; IMEA-PVI irrigated multielectrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation group; RFA radiofrequency ablation; PV pulmonary vein

Ablation times	Total, N=49	RF-PVI, N=25	IMEA-PVI,	P value
(min)			N=24	
Total/Net (min)	23.9(11.8-34.4)	33.6 (30.3-40.1)	11.8(10.2-15.4)	<0.001
Cumulative	51.1(33.6-75.1)	33.6(30.3-40.1)	75.1(63.2-	<0.001
			113.5)	

RF-PVI, point-by-point radiofrequency ablation group; IMEA-PVI irrigated multielectrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation group;

 Table 5.2-4. Procedural parameters. Successful ablation achieved with the primary catheter.

Successful ablation with primary catheter	Total, N=49	RF-PVI, N=25	IMEA-PVI, N=24	P value
Per patient	47 (96)	25(100)	22(92)	0.24
Per PV	191(99)	99(100)	92(98)	0.24

RF-PVI, point-by-point radiofrequency ablation group; IMEA-PVI irrigated multielectrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation group;

Graph 5.2 Difference in net and cumulative ablation times with the same catheter. Note that these values are the same for the RF-PVI group, however, significantly different for IMEA PVI group.



RF-PVI, point-by-point radiofrequency ablation group; IMEA-PVI irrigated multielectrode ablation pulmonary vein isolation group;

5.3. Validation of pulmonary vein isolation:

Of 94 PVs presumed to be isolated after ablation using the IMEA catheter, validation using a standard circular mapping catheter (Lasso 2515, Biosense Webster) showed persistent PV potentials in 33 PVs (35%). Ablation using the IMEA catheter was continued until all PV potentials were eliminated based on the recordings from the circular mapping catheter. On a per PV basis, persistent PV conduction despite presumed isolation based on the IMEA catheter was found in 7 of 21 (33%) LSPVs, in 9 of 21 (43%) LIPVs, in 6 of 24 (25%) RSPVs, in 11 of 24 (46%) RIPVs, in 0 of 1 RMPV, and in none of the 3 left common PVs. Presumed isolation was found numerically more often in the inferior PVs (44%) compared with the superior PVs (29%), but this difference was not statistically significant (P =0.19).

5.4. Efficacy and safety:

During a follow-up of 12 months (including a standard blanking period of 3 months as recommended in the guidelines), 16 of 24 patients (67%) in the IMEA group compared with 17 of 25 patients (68%) in the RF-PVI group were free from AF after a single procedure (P . 0.99). There were no periprocedural complications. In the IMEA group, a total of 5 catheters in 4 of 24 procedures (17%) had to be replaced due to a technical issue. One catheter had a faulty magnetic sensor, one had a defective puller wire preventing deflection of the catheter, two showed wrong temperature measurements at baseline (beginning of the procedure), and one showed a wrong impedance measurement at baseline. There were no catheter related technical issues in the RF-PVI group. No complications have occurred due to catheter related technical issues.



Graph 5.4. 12 months success rates between the two groups

5.5. Repeat procedures:

Six of 24 patients in the IMEA group (25%) and 4 of 25 patients in the RF-PVI group (16%) underwent a repeat left atrial procedure (P = 0.50). All patients undergoing a repeat procedure underwent repeat left atrial imaging with no evidence of PV stenosis. At least one PV with reconnection was found in all patients undergoing repeat ablation. Per patient, the mean number of PVs with reconnection was 2.3+1.2 in the IMEA group compared with 2.8+1.5 in the RF-PVI group (P = 0.64). Of the 14 PVs with reconnection in the 6 patients in the IMEA group, there were 8 left-sided (3 in LSPV; 5 in LIPV) and 6 right-sided (3 in RSPV; 3 in RIPV) reconnections, whereas of the 11 PVs with reconnection in the RF-PVI group, there were 3 left-sided (2 in LSPV; 1 in LIPV) and 8 right-sided (4 in RSPV; 3 in RIPV; 1 in RMPV) reconnections (P = 0.28). Of the 20 reconnection sites (in 14 PVs) in the IMEA group, 13 sites (65%) were left sided (6 in LSPV; 7 in LIPV) and 7 (35%) were right sided (3 in RSPV; 4 in RIPV). In contrast, of the 15 reconnection sites (in 11 PVs) in the RF-PVI group, 4 (27%) sites were left sided (3 in LSPV, 1 in LIPV) and 11 (73%) were right sided (5 in RSPV; 1 in RMPV, 5 in RIPV) (P = 0.04).

6. DISCUSSION

Since the introduction of the IMEA (nMarq) catheter into clinical practice, and until this research has been published three single-centre studies were recently published (116,119,149) showing comparable acute success rates compared with reported acute success rates of point-by-point RF ablation and other 'single-shot' devices for PVI (150,151). However, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study reporting 1-year follow-up after PVI using the IMEA catheter. The main findings of our study are: (1) Acute PVI can be achieved in almost all patients and PVs using solely the IMEA catheter. However, the recordings from the IMEA catheter were not sufficient to confirm isolation in 35% of PVs (requiring additional IMEA ablation in these PVs to achieve isolation). (2) Procedure duration is similar between ablation using the IMEA catheter and standard point-by-point ablation, while fluoroscopy times and radiation doses are higher in the IMEA-PVI group. (3) Net catheter ablation times are lower with the IMEA catheter than with the 3.5 mm irrigated-tip catheter, but cumulative RF time with the IMEA catheter is significantly higher. (4) There was no significant difference in freedom from AF after a follow-up of 1 year.

6.1. Acute success and validation of pulmonary vein isolation

In our study, the procedural endpoint of PVI confirmed by a standard 20-pole circular mapping catheter was reached in all patients. In the IMEA group, PVI was achieved using solely the IMEA catheter in 22 out of 24 patients (92%) and 92 out of 94 PVs (98%). The median number of RF applications with the IMEA catheter was 24 (22–32) and comparable with previously reported studies (116,119,149). In the RF-PVI group, acute PVI could be achieved in all patients. In the study by Deneke et al. (116), mapping

and confirmation of PVI (by abatement of electrograms and exit block confirmation if the IMEA catheter could be advanced into the PV) were performed using the IMEA catheter only. With this method they could achieve and verify isolation in 160 of 163 targeted veins which is similar to our finding. Shin et al.(149) could confirm exit block in 93% of the PVs and 72% of patients with the IMEA catheter. In the cases where the IMEA catheter could not be advanced into the PV, confirmation of isolation was performed using a standard circular mapping catheter. This was required in total of 28% patients, and in all of them it was required for right inferior pulmonary vein. In our study, however, we performed confirmation of PVI with a standard circular mapping catheter in all our patients (both in the IMEA-PVI and RF-PVI groups) for two reasons: first, PV signals or their disappearance cannot always be verified on the IMEA catheter, especially after ablation, as recently shown by Rosso et al (152). Second, current recommendations for the verification of PVI require at least demonstration of entrance block and not only voltage abatement on the antral ablation line (1,8). However, due to the higher stiffness of the 8.4 French distal circular part of the IMEA catheter and its minimal diameter of 20 mm, it cannot be advanced into smaller PVs. Rosso et al. (152) found that the recordings of the potentials at the antrum of the pulmonary veins in both catheters (standard diagnostic circular catheter and IMEA catheter) were concordant in 92% of cases before the ablation. However, after the ablation in 30% of veins (12 of 39) after the ablation, presumably disappeared pulmonary vein potentials on IMEA catheter were clearly seen on standard circular diagnostic catheter. On the other hand, in 28% of veins (11 of 39) fragmentation of signals which were not seen on standard diagnostic catheter.

Although, in contrast to Rosso et al., we did not use the standard circular mapping catheter for real-time recordings from the PVs during energy application (because of possible contact issues at the antrum with the IMEA catheter), our results are in line with the findings of Rosso et al. With 35% of all PVs presumed to be isolated based on IMEA recordings showing persistent PV potentials on the standard circular mapping catheter, our results also suggest that the IMEA catheter is insufficient to accurately confirm PVI.

This was the first report evaluating the acute efficacy and signal verification in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. In the previous studies it was used solely in the patients with paroxysmal atrial

fibrillation. Patients with persistent atrial fibrillation tend to have larger atria with more pronounced fibrosis and frequently require additional substrate ablation. However, pulmonary vein isolation was used in our center as the first procedure in all patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. In achieving acute pulmonary vein isolation, our study showed comparable results to those of previous IMEA catheter studies in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation.

Further studies, including patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation were published afterwards with larger number of patients from prospective registries have reported successful isolation of pulmonary veins in both group of patients in 99.6% (153) and up to 100% (117) of pulmonary veins, not requiring additional ,'touch up'' ablations. In a multicenter study by Mahida et al. (153) 374 patients were included, among which 111 patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. A total of 1,468 of 1,474 veins (99.6%) were isolated with the nMARQ catheter alone. Another prospective registry by Vurma et al. (122) included 327 patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. And while they report procedural data and success rates after 12 months, rate of acute PV isolation is nor reported.

6.2 Procedural characteristics

Procedure duration was not different between the two study groups, whereas fluoroscopy duration and DAP were significantly higher in the IMEA-PVI group (P = 0.001). Procedure times in our study are longer compared with one previous study (119) and similar to the other two previously reported studies with IMEA catheter (116,149) and are also similar to other ablation methods (112,132,150).

Although shorter procedure times are a potential advantage of single-shot technologies, this was not achieved in this study. One of the reasons for this might be the relatively high rate of technical failures with the IMEA catheter leading to delays during procedures. Increased reliability of future generation IMEA catheters may overcome this problem. Also, in theory larger experience and overcoming the learning curve with the new catheter could reduce the procedure times. Study by Vurma et al. (122) published afterwards, with 327 patients included, reported shorter procedural times both for paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. There was a difference, with shorter procedural times in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (68.6+22.5 min vs. 75.0+22.7 min, p=0.023). In this study, longer procedural times could in part be explained by longer ablation times in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation due to larger atrial area and wider antral ablation in these patients (122).

In a study by Mahida et al (153), with 374 patients included reported similar procedural times to our and other previous studies.

However, in our study, the procedure duration did not change with increasing experience with the IMEA catheter.

Fluoroscopy times and DAP in our study were significantly higher in the IMEA group, however both groups in our study had lower fluoroscopy times and DAP than previously reported. (116,119,154). Fluoroscopy times in studies that followed were also higher than reported in our study, both in patients with paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation (122,153).

One of the reasons for consistently lower fluoroscopy times when compared to all other studies is following ALARA (as low as reasonably achievable) principle by our group. Due to risks from exposure to radiation for patients and operators, every effort should be made to reduce the fluoroscopy use to a minimum (155). With the advent of mapping systems, radiation burden has been decreased (142). Additionally, by using standardized protocols, radiation could be decreased to minimum or even zero during the procedures with electroanatomical mapping systems. We have demonstrated that during RF point-by-point ablation, PVI could be performed without fluoroscopy after achieving transseptal access (140,141). Previous groups have reported that PVI could be performed with no use of fluoroscopy, however with the additional use of intracardiac or transesophageal echocardiography (156). In patients with patent foramen ovale, our group has shown that PVI could be performed with no use of fluoroscopy, using only mapping system (142). In a patient with a PFO, IMEA catheter ablation could also be performed with no use of fluoroscopy as reported by Mühl et al (157).

Applying standardized protocols when using mapping systems, led to reduced fluoroscopy times reported in our study (total 9.9 (4.9–14.5)min, RF group 5.2 (4.1–9.3) min vs. IMEA group 12.2 (11–16.1) min). Also, in our study, with increasing experience with the IMEA catheter, fluoroscopy duration was decreased between the first and the last five procedures in the IMEA-PVI group.

6.3 Delivery of radiofrequency energy

The total net ablation time was lower in the IMEA-PVI group [11.8 (10.2–15.4) min] than that in the RF-PVI group [33.6 (30.3–40.1) min]. This was similar compared with previously reported studies (19 and 15 min) (116,154). When comparing our study in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation with those previously reported studies in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, ablation times were similar. Mahida et al (153) reported very similar ablation times to our results (13.5 \pm 6.4 min). In study by Vurma et al (122) ablation times were higher than reported in our study (18.9+6.4 min in paroxysmal and 22.1+6.1 min in persistent). The difference between ablation times was significant (P<0.001). The 13% longer ablation times were explained with larger atrial area and wider antral ablation in these patients.

However, these reported RF times do not adequately represent the total amount of RF energy delivered with multi-electrode ablation. With the IMEA catheter, RF energy is applied over a pre-selectable number of electrodes (1–10) simultaneously. However, the ablation system counts and reports only the duration of energy delivery for every energy application, independent of the number of selected electrodes. These times are reported and compared in all reports on IMEA catheter ablation (116,119,122,153,154).

Consequently, in our study, the effective, cumulative RF time was calculated by adding the ablation time for every ablation multiplied by the number of selected electrodes. The resulting median cumulative time of RF ablation was 75.1 (63.2–113.5) min, which is significantly higher compared with point-by-

point ablation in our study. In point-by-point ablation, RF net ablation time is equal to cumulative ablation time since only one ablation electrode is being used.

Some authors suggest that ablation times cannot be compared, since these ablation times do not adequately represent the amount of energy being delivered (122), this holds true only for reported net ablation time. This value, given by the system does not adequately represent total energy that was delivered. If cumulative ablation times were used, they would be comparable between the studies, regardless of protocols and number of electrodes used for every RF energy application. Although we reported no complications in our study, these cumulative ablation times which are significantly higher than all reported net ablation times and higher than cumulative ablation time in the RF PVI group in our study, could explain higher reported risks of complications with this technology (120,122). Even if cumulative ablation times would be used for reporting and comparing energy delivery this could still be misleading especially for predicting the risk of oesophageal injury since the applications are performed simultaneously on the anterior and posterior wall from several electrodes. Also, the potential for overlapping energy regions from two adjacent electrodes has to be taken into account.

6.4 Procedure related complications

In this study no procedural complications occurred. Pericardial effusions were excluded by transthoracic echocardiography and there were no clinical signs of access site complications nor manifest cerebral thromboembolism.

In a study by Shin et al. (154), with 25 patients, also no complications were reported. In their study they also performed pre and postprocedural cardiac MRI which no signs of acute PV stenosis. However, it is known that PV stenosis can occur delayed after the ablation (149,158).

In a study by Deneke et al. they routinely performed postprocedural brain MRI with the goal of detecting asymptomatic cerebral lesions (silent cerebral lesions). Although they did not report any symptomatic

cerebral events, they reported asymptomatic cerebral lesions detected by MRI in 17 of 43 (33%) patients. Incidence is slightly higher compared to single-tip irrigated RF (24%), laserballoon (24%), or cryoballoon (21%) ablations and lower compared to phased RF technology (37%) when using a comparable MRI protocol (116,159). Recent report of 2 IMEA catheter studies (160) have shown that adherence to strict anticoagulation protocols resulted in significant decrease in post procedural silent cerebral lesions. Clinical relevance of these silent cerebral lesions is still unclear.

Zellerhof et al. (119) reported one case of tamponade in 39 patients who underwent PVI with IMEA catheter. The tamponade was related to transseptal puncture and not the ablation and the patient fully recovered.

Other potential issue with radiofrequency ablation, especially with IMEA catheter are thermal lesions of the esophagus and devastating complication atrioesophageal fistula which has very high mortality rate. Reported rate of atrioesophageal fistula with standard point-by-point radiofrequency (RF) ablation ranges between 0.03 and 0.2% (161,162). Oesophageal thermal lesions have been reported in up to 20% of patients using standard point-by-point RF ablation (163).

Esophageal temperature monitoring is used to prevent thermal lesions. Esophageal temperature probe is placed and the goal is to keep the maximal luminal oesophageal temperature (LET) below a predefined cut-off value during ablation.

We had data from luminal esophageal temperature monitoring for 40 of total 49 patients (20 in RF PVI group and 20 in IMEA group).

Deneke reported temperature increase above 40.5 °C in 51% of patients undergoing ablation with IMEA catheter (116). Of those 22 patients, two thirds had mild thermal lesions of the oesophagus detected endoscopically.

With point-by-point ablations, esophageal lesions have been reported in up to 11% and thermal esophageal damage in 30–46% of patients using temperature monitoring (116). On the other hand, with cryoballoon ablation, esophageal damage has been identified in up to 17% (164).

Unfortunately, case of atrio-esophageal fistula was reported early with the use of the first generation IMEA catheter (120). Later, study by Vurma et al (122) reported 2 cases of atrio-esophageal fistula in series of 327 patients 0.6%, however both of them occurred consecutively with the use of second generation IMEA catheter in 39 patients (2/39, 5.4%) which is higher than in any other reports and studies regardless of technology used. Because of potential technical problems, the catheter was recalled by the manufacturer, and further results of the technical investigation are pending.

6.5. Freedom from atrial fibrillation

During a follow-up of 12 months (including a standard blanking period of 3 months), 16 of 24 patients (67%) in the IMEA group compared with 17 of 25 patients (68%) in the RF-PVI group were free from AF after a single procedure (P > 0.99). One previous study reported 4-month success rates of 80.9% in patients with paroxysmal AF, whereas another reported success rates of 77% after a follow-up of 140 days using IMEA ablation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation (119,149). However, both of these studies enrolled only patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Also maximal reported follow up was 4 months in these studies.

In our study, results of point-by-point ablation and IMEA catheter ablation for persistent AF were similar in approximately two-thirds of patients being free from AF after a follow-up of 1 year, the longest available follow-up data in patients undergoing PVI using IMEA regardless on type of atrial fibrillation at the time.

These success rates were consistent in studies that followed. In a study by Vurma et al (122). As stated before, total of 327 patients were included, among those 228 with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation and 97 with persistent. After a single procedure and after a median of 3.3 month follow up, 75% of patients with paroxysmal AF and 52% of patients with persistent AF were free from atrial fibrillation. It the patients who underwent redo procedures (5%) and those taking antiarrhythmic drugs the success rates rose to 90% and 83% respectfully. In our study, however, the follow up was longer and the patients were held off antiarrhythmic drugs with somewhat higher success rates. Looking at the patient population,

there were no obvious differences in the left atrial size or duration of atrial fibrillation. The patients in study by Vurma et la were slightly older than our study population (64.8 ± 8.2 vs. 59 ± 10).

In the largest study with IMEA catheter by Mahida et al. (153) Which included total of 374 patients among which 111 patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. This study reported the success rates at 12 months follow up. 65% of patients in both groups (paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation) were free from atrial arrhythmias at 12 months follow up. However, of 374 patients, 12 months follow up data was available in total 85 patients (21%). In the persistent group follow up data were available in 20 of 97 patients. In this group, 65% of patients were free from atrial arrhythmia, 20% had AF recurrence and 15% had atrial tachycardia. In our study we had similar success rates after 12 months follow up. And while both studies by Vurma and Mahida report experience with IMEA catheter in a larger number of patients, only a small proportion of these patients, especially those with persistent atrial fibrillation have 12 months in higher number of patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. Also, in our study, safety and efficacy of IMEA catheter ablation were compared to standard point-by-point ablation with similar results.

Other studies using either point-by-point radiofrequency ablation or other technologies in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation reported similar success rates after 12 months (165–167). These trials were multicenter, randomize trials that compared ablation versus antiarrhythmic drugs and the success rates defined as freedom from AF after 12 months were 56%, 70% and 74% respectfully. However, only in the trial by Hummel et al (165) which used phased RF ablation was only pulmonary vein isolation performed. This trial had success rates of 56%. In other trials by Oral et al. (166) and Mont el al. (167) (both 146 patients), in addition to PVI, substrate modification was performed. In a trial by Oral, roof and mitral lines were performed and in the trial by Mont CFAEs and optional lines in the left atrium were performed. As stated before, different technologies exist for ablation of atrial fibrillation. And while it was and still is clear that the pulmonary vein isolation is the cornerstone for treating atrial fibrillation and is very efficient and usually only procedure that is needed in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation, approach in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation differs. Some centers, as our two

centers do, used solely PVI as the first procedure, but as seen in studies by Oral and Mont, additional substrate modification as mitral and roof lines of ablation of CFAEs is used by some centers. This is why results and success rates differ among different studies.

In 2015 results of STAR AF II Trial were published. Study by Verma et al. (97) included 589 patients undergoing ablation for persistent atrial fibrillation and randomized them in 1:4:4 ratio to pulmonary-vein isolation alone (67 patients), pulmonary-vein isolation plus ablation of electrograms showing complex fractionated activity (263 patients), or pulmonary-vein isolation plus additional linear ablation across the left atrial roof and mitral valve isthmus (259 patients). After 18 months of follow up, there was no difference in success rates between groups (59% vs. 49% vs. 46%, p=0.15) with a trend for more complications in groups with additional ablation protocols. This study proved that pulmonary vein isolation alone is also the cornerstone of persistent atrial fibrillation.

In addition to first procedure, approximately 20% of patients in our study underwent a repeat left atrial procedure for recurrent AF (168). The number of reconnected pulmonary veins per patient was not different between the IMEA-PVI and RF-PVI groups, but there were significantly more reconnection sites at the left-sided PVs in the IMEA group. There were no differences in reconnection patterns at the right sided pulmonary veins. Zellerhoff et al. (119) also analysed PV reconnection patterns in patients undergoing a repeat ablation after IMEA-PVI. Although no comparison was made with standard RF-PVI, they also described reconnection in all PVs with a typical site being the antero-superior circumference of the left superior PV and the anterior circumference of the left superior PV and inferior patterns were superior part of the right superior PV.

In a study by Mahida et al. (153) 17 of 374 patients underwent repeat procedures and reconnection patterns were reported in 16 of them. Like in the study by Zellerhof, there was no comparison with standard RF PVI. Distribution of reconnection patterns differed with most frequent reconnection areas being the anterior aspect of the RSPV, the inferior aspect of the RIPV and the superior aspect of the LSPV.

At the left sided veins, reconnection patterns in all three studies are similar and may be explained with the difficulty of adequate circumferential tissue contact when positioning the IMEA catheter at the leftsided PV ridge region. We reported no difference in reconnection patterns with RF PVI and IMEA catheter ablation at the right sided veins and in the other two studies patterns were slightly different – anterior vs. superior part of the right superior pulmonary veins and inferior part of the right inferior vein. Inferior part of the RIPV could reflect inadequate catheter-tissue contact in this region similar to other single shot technologies (123)

7. CONCLUSIONS

In patients undergoing ablation for persistent AF, IMEA-PVI resulted in shorter net ablation time but longer cumulative ablation duration compared to RF-PVI. Procedure times were similar between the two groups, while fluoroscopy time was significantly longer in IMEA-PVI group. Technical issues occurred in 5 IMEA catheters, while there were no technical issues with standard point-by-point catheters.

Success rates defined as freedom from AF after 12 months were similar in both groups. No complications occurred in both groups of patients.

It can be concluded that IMEA-PVI is as effective as point-by-point RF ablation in patients with persistent AF at the cost of longer fluoroscopy and longer cumulative ablation times. Whether the longer cumulative ablation duration has an impact on safety or on long-term efficacy needs to be investigated in future studies.
8. SAŽETAK

Fibrilacija atrija je najučestalija supraventrikulska aritmija u općoj populaciji. Povezana je s povišenom stopom morbiditeta i mortaliteta te sniženom kvalitetom života bolesnika. Kao opcija liječenja kob dijela bolesnika, razvijena je izolacija plućnih vena koje je i danas temelj ablacijskog liječenja fibrilacije atrija. Razvijeni su brojni kateteri i tehnologije za izolaciju plućnih vena, a jedna od novijih je i multielektrodna irigacijska ablacija. Dosad postoje istraživanja koja su ispitivala učinkovitost i sigurnost navedene tehnologije kod bolesnika s paroksizmalnom fibrilacijom atrija, međutim do sada nije korištena niti ispitana kod bolesnika s perzistentnom fibrilacijom atrija.

Cilj naše studije bio je usporediti novi multielektrodni irigacijski ablacijski kateter sa standardnom point-by-point radiofrekventnom ablacijom kod bolesnika s perzistentnom fibrilacijom atrija koji su podvrgnuti izolaciji plućnih vena.

U studiju je uključeno 49 bolesnika (60± 9 godina, 82% muškarci). Kod 24 bolesnika PVI je učinjena multielektrodnim irigacijskim ablacijskim kateterom (IMEA-PVI) uz korištenje maping sustava, a kod 25 bolesnika radiofrekventnom ''point-by-point'' ablacijom standardnim 4 mm irigacijskim kateterom (RF-PVI). Bolesnici su praćeni 24h Holter EKGom tijekom 12 mjeseci svaka tri mjeseca, a u 12-om mjesecu učinjen je 7 dnevni Holter EKG.

Rezultati su pokazali da je vrijeme procedure usporedivo, ali vrijeme fluoroskopije kao i kumulativno vrijeme ablacije bili su znatno viši u IMEA grupi. Trajanje procedure bilo je 125 + 23 min u IMEA grupi i 127 + 31 min u RF-PVI grupi (P = 0.79). Vrijeme fluoroskopije bilo je 12.2 (11 - 16.1) min u IMEA grupi, a 5.2 (4.1 - 9.3) min u RF-PVI group (P = 0.001). Vrijeme ablacije kateterom bilo je 11.8 (10.2 - 15.4) min u IMEA grupi, a 33.6 (30.3 - 40.1) min u RF-PVI grupi (P= 0.001). Međutim, kumulativno vrijeme ablacije (vrijeme ablacije po RF elektrodi) bilo je značajno više u IMEA PVI grupi. I iako je incidencija komplikacija bila niska u ovom istraživanju, dulje kumulativno vrijeme ablacije bilo noglo imati implikacije na incidenciju komplikacija koje su prijavljene u drugim studijama.

Rezultati su potvrdili našu hipotezu da nema značajne razlike u jednogodišnjoj uspješnosti (definirana kao odsutnost fibrilacije atrija) između dvije metode.16 of 24 bolesnika (67%) u IMEA grupi i 17 od 25 pacijenata (68%) iu RF-PVI grupi nisu imali fibrilaciju atrija nakon 12 mjeseci (P=0.99).

U zaključku, IMEA-PVI ablacija povezana je sa kraćom ablacijom kateterom, ali znatno duljom kumulativnom ablacijom. Također, procedura je slične duljine trajanja kao RF PVI, ali uz znatno dulje korištenje fluoroskopije. Uspješnost u održavanju sinusnog ritma nakon 12 mjeseci je jednaka u obje skupine.

9. SHORT SUMMARY

Atrial fibrillation is the most common supraventricular arrhythmia in the general population. It is related to increased morbidity and mortality and reduced quality of life. Pulmonary vein isolation has emerged and today remains the cornerstone of atrial fibrillation ablation. There are multiple different tools and technologies used to achieve pulmonary vein isolation, and irrigated multi-electrode ablation was a novel tool to perform pulmonary vein isolation. It has been evaluated in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation; however there is no data on use of this technology in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation. The aim of our study was to compare irrigated multi-electrode ablation with point-by-point radiofrequency (RF) ablation in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation under-going PVI.

In this prospective study, we included forty-nine patients (age 60 + 9 years, 82% male). In 24 patients, the IMEA catheter was used in conjunction with an electroanatomic mapping system. Twenty-five patients undergoing RF point-by-point ablation (RF-PVI) served as a control group. Patients were followed for 12 months with 24 Holter ECG monitoring at 3, 6, and 9 months and 7 days Holter ECG at 12 months follow up.

Results have confirmed our hypothesis that procedural parameters are similar between irrigated multielectrode ablation and standard point-by-point radiofrequency ablation. Procedure time was 125 + 23 min in the IMEA group and 127 + 31 min in the RF-PVI group (P = 0.79). Fluoroscopy time was 12.2 (11 - 16.1) min with IMEA compared with 5.2 (4.1 - 9.3) min in the RF-PVI group (P, 0.001). Net ablation time was 11.8 (10.2 - 15.4) min in the IMEA group compared with 33.6 (30.3 - 40.1) min in the RF-PVI group (P, 0.001). However, cumulative ablation times were significantly longer in the IMEA group compared to RF PVI group. Although complication rates were low in our study, longer cumulative ablation times could have implications on complication rates, which needs to be verified in future studies.

Success rates, defined as freedom from any atrial fibrillation at 12 months were similar between the two groups. At 12 months, 16 of 24 patients (67%) in the IMEA group compared with 17 of 25 patients (68%) in RF-PVI group were free from AF (P. 0.99).

In conclusion, IMEA-PVI was associated with shorter net ablation time and longer fluoroscopy time with similar procedure duration. Irrigated multi-electrode ablation recordings were not sufficient to confirm isolation in 35% of PVs. Single procedure efficacy after 12 months was similar between the two groups.

10. REFERENCES:

- Calkins H, Hindricks G, Cappato R, Kim Y-H, Saad EB, Aguinaga L, et al. 2017 HRS/EHRA/ECAS/APHRS/SOLAECE expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2018 Jan 1;20(1):e1–160.
- Kirchhof P, Benussi S, Kotecha D, Ahlsson A, Atar D, Casadei B, et al. 2016 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation developed in collaboration with EACTS. Eur Heart J. 2016 Oct 7;37(38):2893–962.
- Rizos T, Güntner J, Jenetzky E, Marquardt L, Reichardt C, Becker R, et al. Continuous stroke unit electrocardiographic monitoring versus 24-hour Holter electrocardiography for detection of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation after stroke. Stroke. 2012 Oct;43(10):2689–94.
- 4. Hobbs FDR, Fitzmaurice DA, Mant J, Murray E, Jowett S, Bryan S, et al. A randomised controlled trial and cost-effectiveness study of systematic screening (targeted and total population screening) versus routine practice for the detection of atrial fibrillation in people aged 65 and over. The SAFE study. Health Technol Assess. 2005 Oct;9(40):iii–iv, ix–x, 1–74.
- 5. Kirchhof P, Auricchio A, Bax J, Crijns H, Camm J, Diener H-C, et al. Outcome parameters for trials in atrial fibrillation: executive summary Recommendations from a consensus conference organized by the German Atrial Fibrillation Competence NETwork (AFNET) and the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA). Eur Heart J. 2007 Nov 1;28(22):2803–17.
- Mont L, Bisbal F, Hernández-Madrid A, Pérez-Castellano N, Viñolas X, Arenal A, et al. Catheter ablation vs. antiarrhythmic drug treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation: a multicentre, randomized, controlled trial (SARA study). Eur Heart J. 2014 Feb;35(8):501–7.
- Krittayaphong R, Raungrattanaamporn O, Bhuripanyo K, Sriratanasathavorn C, Pooranawattanakul
 S, Punlee K, et al. A randomized clinical trial of the efficacy of radiofrequency catheter ablation

and amiodarone in the treatment of symptomatic atrial fibrillation. J Med Assoc Thai. 2003 May;86 Suppl 1:S8-16.

- 8. Calkins H, Kuck KH, Cappato R, Brugada J, Camm AJ, Chen S-A, et al. 2012 HRS/EHRA/ECAS expert consensus statement on catheter and surgical ablation of atrial fibrillation: recommendations for patient selection, procedural techniques, patient management and follow-up, definitions, endpoints, and research trial design: a report of the Heart Rhythm Society (HRS) Task Force on Catheter and Surgical Ablation of Atrial Fibrillation. Developed in partnership with the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA), a registered branch of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society (ECAS); and in collaboration with the American College of Cardiology (ACC), American Heart Association (AHA), the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society (APHRS), and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons (STS). Endorsed by the governing bodies of the American College of Cardiology Foundation, the American Heart Association, the European Cardiac Arrhythmia Society, the European Heart Rhythm Association, the Society of Thoracic Surgeons, the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society, and the Heart Rhythm Society. Heart Rhythm Association, the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society of Thoracic Surgeons, the Asia Pacific Heart Rhythm Society, and the Heart Rhythm Society. Heart Rhythm 2012 Apr;9(4):632-696.e21.
- Kannel WB, Abbott RD, Savage DD, McNamara PM. Epidemiologic Features of Chronic Atrial Fibrillation. New England Journal of Medicine. 1982;306(17):1018–22.
- European Heart Rhythm Association, European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery, Camm AJ, Kirchhof P, Lip GYH, Schotten U, et al. Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Europace. 2010 Oct;12(10):1360–420.
- DeWilde S, Carey IM, Emmas C, Richards N, Cook DG. Trends in the prevalence of diagnosed atrial fibrillation, its treatment with anticoagulation and predictors of such treatment in UK primary care. Heart. 2006 Aug;92(8):1064–70.

- Andersson T, Magnuson A, Bryngelsson I-L, Frøbert O, Henriksson KM, Edvardsson N, et al. Allcause mortality in 272,186 patients hospitalized with incident atrial fibrillation 1995-2008: a Swedish nationwide long-term case-control study. Eur Heart J. 2013 Apr;34(14):1061–7.
- Chugh SS, Havmoeller R, Narayanan K, Singh D, Rienstra M, Benjamin EJ, et al. Worldwide epidemiology of atrial fibrillation: a Global Burden of Disease 2010 Study. Circulation. 2014 Feb 25;129(8):837–47.
- Heeringa J, van der Kuip DAM, Hofman A, Kors JA, van Herpen G, Stricker BHC, et al. Prevalence, incidence and lifetime risk of atrial fibrillation: the Rotterdam study. Eur Heart J. 2006 Apr;27(8):949–53.
- 15. Rietbrock S, Heeley E, Plumb J, van Staa T. Chronic atrial fibrillation: Incidence, prevalence, and prediction of stroke using the Congestive heart failure, Hypertension, Age >75, Diabetes mellitus, and prior Stroke or transient ischemic attack (CHADS2) risk stratification scheme. Am Heart J. 2008 Jul;156(1):57–64.
- 16. Camm AJ, Lip GYH, De Caterina R, Savelieva I, Atar D, Hohnloser SH, et al. 2012 focused update of the ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: an update of the 2010 ESC Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation. Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association. Eur Heart J. 2012 Nov;33(21):2719–47.
- Schnabel RB, Yin X, Gona P, Larson MG, Beiser AS, McManus DD, et al. 50 year trends in atrial fibrillation prevalence, incidence, risk factors, and mortality in the Framingham Heart Study: a cohort study. Lancet. 2015 Jul 11;386(9989):154–62.
- Sanna T, Diener H-C, Passman RS, Di Lazzaro V, Bernstein RA, Morillo CA, et al. Cryptogenic stroke and underlying atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2014 Jun 26;370(26):2478–86.
- Lip GY, Golding DJ, Nazir M, Beevers DG, Child DL, Fletcher RI. A survey of atrial fibrillation in general practice: the West Birmingham Atrial Fibrillation Project. Br J Gen Pract. 1997 May;47(418):285–9.

- 20. Naccarelli GV, Varker H, Lin J, Schulman KL. Increasing prevalence of atrial fibrillation and flutter in the United States. Am J Cardiol. 2009 Dec 1;104(11):1534–9.
- Stewart S, Hart CL, Hole DJ, McMurray JJV. A population-based study of the long-term risks associated with atrial fibrillation: 20-year follow-up of the Renfrew/Paisley study. Am J Med. 2002 Oct 1;113(5):359–64.
- 22. Kirchhof P, Lip GYH, Van Gelder IC, Bax J, Hylek E, Kaab S, et al. Comprehensive risk reduction in patients with atrial fibrillation: emerging diagnostic and therapeutic options--a report from the 3rd Atrial Fibrillation Competence NETwork/European Heart Rhythm Association consensus conference. Europace. 2012 Jan;14(1):8–27.
- Benjamin EJ, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB, Levy D. Impact of atrial fibrillation on the risk of death: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 1998 Sep 8;98(10):946–52.
- 24. Lau DH, Nattel S, Kalman JM, Sanders P. Modifiable Risk Factors and Atrial Fibrillation. Circulation. 2017 Aug 8;136(6):583–96.
- Du X, Dong J, Ma C. Is Atrial Fibrillation a Preventable Disease? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017 Apr 18;69(15):1968–82.
- Balta S, Kurtoglu E, Demir M, Demirkol S, Arslan Z, Unlu M. Risk factors for new-onset atrial fibrillation. Int J Cardiol. 2014 Feb 1;171(2):e46.
- 27. Mandapati R, Skanes A, Chen J, Berenfeld O, Jalife J. Stable microreentrant sources as a mechanism of atrial fibrillation in the isolated sheep heart. Circulation. 2000 Jan 18;101(2):194–9.
- Berenfeld O, Mandapati R, Dixit S, Skanes AC, Chen J, Mansour M, et al. Spatially distributed dominant excitation frequencies reveal hidden organization in atrial fibrillation in the Langendorffperfused sheep heart. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2000 Aug;11(8):869–79.

- 29. Shiroshita-Takeshita A, Brundel BJJM, Nattel S. Atrial fibrillation: basic mechanisms, remodeling and triggers. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2005 Sep;13(3):181–93.
- 30. Nattel S. New ideas about atrial fibrillation 50 years on. Nature. 2002 Jan 10;415(6868):219-26.
- Winfree AT. Varieties of spiral wave behavior: An experimentalist's approach to the theory of excitable media. Chaos. 1991 Oct;1(3):303–34.
- 32. Lee S, Sahadevan J, Khrestian CM, Cakulev I, Markowitz A, Waldo AL. Simultaneous Biatrial High-Density (510-512 Electrodes) Epicardial Mapping of Persistent and Long-Standing Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients: New Insights Into the Mechanism of Its Maintenance. Circulation. 2015 Dec 1;132(22):2108–17.
- 33. Everett TH 4th, Wilson EE, Verheule S, Guerra JM, Foreman S, Olgin JE. Structural atrial remodeling alters the substrate and spatiotemporal organization of atrial fibrillation: a comparison in canine models of structural and electrical atrial remodeling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006 Dec;291(6):H2911-2923.
- 34. Wijffels MCEF, Kirchhof CJHJ, Dorland R, Allessie MA. Atrial Fibrillation Begets Atrial Fibrillation A Study in Awake Chronically Instrumented Goats. Circulation. 1995 Oct 1;92(7):1954–68.
- 35. MOE GK, RHEINBOLDT WC, ABILDSKOV JA. A COMPUTER MODEL OF ATRIAL FIBRILLATION. Am Heart J. 1964 Feb;67:200–20.
- 36. Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, et al. Spontaneous initiation of atrial fibrillation by ectopic beats originating in the pulmonary veins. N Engl J Med. 1998 Sep 3;339(10):659–66.
- 37. Everett TH 4th, Wilson EE, Verheule S, Guerra JM, Foreman S, Olgin JE. Structural atrial remodeling alters the substrate and spatiotemporal organization of atrial fibrillation: a comparison

in canine models of structural and electrical atrial remodeling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006 Dec;291(6):H2911-2923.

- 38. Brignole M, Auricchio A, Baron-Esquivias G, Bordachar P, Boriani G, Breithardt O-A, et al. 2013 ESC Guidelines on cardiac pacing and cardiac resynchronization therapy: the Task Force on cardiac pacing and resynchronization therapy of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA). Eur Heart J. 2013 Aug;34(29):2281–329.
- Van Gelder IC, Groenveld HF, Crijns HJGM, Tuininga YS, Tijssen JGP, Alings AM, et al. Lenient versus strict rate control in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2010 Apr 15;362(15):1363–73.
- 40. Al-Khatib SM, Allen LaPointe NM, Chatterjee R, Crowley MJ, Dupre ME, Kong DF, et al. Rateand rhythm-control therapies in patients with atrial fibrillation: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med. 2014 Jun 3;160(11):760–73.
- Wyse DG, Waldo AL, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Rosenberg Y, Schron EB, et al. A comparison of rate control and rhythm control in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2002 Dec 5;347(23):1825–33.
- 42. Dankner R, Shahar A, Novikov I, Agmon U, Ziv A, Hod H. Treatment of stable atrial fibrillation in the emergency department: a population-based comparison of electrical direct-current versus pharmacological cardioversion or conservative management. Cardiology. 2009;112(4):270–8.
- 43. Gitt AK, Smolka W, Michailov G, Bernhardt A, Pittrow D, Lewalter T. Types and outcomes of cardioversion in patients admitted to hospital for atrial fibrillation: results of the German RHYTHM-AF Study. Clin Res Cardiol. 2013 Oct;102(10):713–23.
- Lafuente-Lafuente C, Valembois L, Bergmann J-F, Belmin J. Antiarrhythmics for maintaining sinus rhythm after cardioversion of atrial fibrillation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2015 Mar 28;(3):CD005049.

- 45. Cosedis Nielsen J, Johannessen A, Raatikainen P, Hindricks G, Walfridsson H, Kongstad O, et al. Radiofrequency ablation as initial therapy in paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2012 Oct 25;367(17):1587–95.
- 46. Wilber DJ, Pappone C, Neuzil P, De Paola A, Marchlinski F, Natale A, et al. Comparison of antiarrhythmic drug therapy and radiofrequency catheter ablation in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2010 Jan 27;303(4):333–40.
- 47. Hakalahti A, Biancari F, Nielsen JC, Raatikainen MJP. Radiofrequency ablation vs. antiarrhythmic drug therapy as first line treatment of symptomatic atrial fibrillation: systematic review and metaanalysis. Europace. 2015 Mar;17(3):370–8.
- 48. Chatterjee S, Sardar P, Lichstein E, Mukherjee D, Aikat S. Pharmacologic rate versus rhythmcontrol strategies in atrial fibrillation: an updated comprehensive review and meta-analysis. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2013 Jan;36(1):122–33.
- 49. Corley SD, Epstein AE, DiMarco JP, Domanski MJ, Geller N, Greene HL, et al. Relationships between sinus rhythm, treatment, and survival in the Atrial Fibrillation Follow-Up Investigation of Rhythm Management (AFFIRM) Study. Circulation. 2004 Mar 30;109(12):1509–13.
- 50. de Denus S, Sanoski CA, Carlsson J, Opolski G, Spinler SA. Rate vs rhythm control in patients with atrial fibrillation: a meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med. 2005 Feb 14;165(3):258–62.
- Opolski G, Torbicki A, Kosior DA, Szulc M, Wozakowska-Kaplon B, Kolodziej P, et al. Rate control vs rhythm control in patients with nonvalvular persistent atrial fibrillation: the results of the Polish How to Treat Chronic Atrial Fibrillation (HOT CAFE) Study. Chest. 2004 Aug;126(2):476–86.
- 52. Packer DL, Mark DB, Robb RA, Monahan KH, Bahnson TD, Moretz K, et al. Catheter Ablation versus Antiarrhythmic Drug Therapy for Atrial Fibrillation (CABANA) Trial: Study Rationale and Design. Am Heart J. 2018 May;199:192–9.

- 53. Packer M. The CABANA Trial: an honourable view. Eur Heart J. 2018 Aug 7;39(30):2770.
- 54. Marrouche NF, Brachmann J, Andresen D, Siebels J, Boersma L, Jordaens L, et al. Catheter Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation with Heart Failure. N Engl J Med. 2018 01;378(5):417–27.
- 55. Di Biase L, Mohanty P, Mohanty S, Santangeli P, Trivedi C, Lakkireddy D, et al. Ablation Versus Amiodarone for Treatment of Persistent Atrial Fibrillation in Patients With Congestive Heart Failure and an Implanted Device: Results From the AATAC Multicenter Randomized Trial. Circulation. 2016 Apr 26;133(17):1637–44.
- Group TSR in AFW. Independent predictors of stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation A systematic review. Neurology. 2007 Aug 7;69(6):546–54.
- 57. Gage BF, Waterman AD, Shannon W, Boechler M, Rich MW, Radford MJ. Validation of clinical classification schemes for predicting stroke: results from the National Registry of Atrial Fibrillation. JAMA. 2001 Jun 13;285(22):2864–70.
- 58. Go AS, Hylek EM, Chang Y, Phillips KA, Henault LE, Capra AM, et al. Anticoagulation therapy for stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation: how well do randomized trials translate into clinical practice? JAMA. 2003 Nov 26;290(20):2685–92.
- 59. Hart RG, Pearce LA, Aguilar MI. Meta-analysis: antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in patients who have nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Ann Intern Med. 2007 Jun 19;146(12):857–67.
- Hylek EM, Go AS, Chang Y, Jensvold NG, Henault LE, Selby JV, et al. Effect of intensity of oral anticoagulation on stroke severity and mortality in atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2003 Sep 11;349(11):1019–26.
- Apostolakis S, Sullivan RM, Olshansky B, Lip GYH. Factors affecting quality of anticoagulation control among patients with atrial fibrillation on warfarin: the SAMe-TT₂R₂ score. Chest. 2013 Nov;144(5):1555–63.

- 62. Eikelboom JW, Connolly SJ, Brueckmann M, Granger CB, Kappetein AP, Mack MJ, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with mechanical heart valves. N Engl J Med. 2013 Sep 26;369(13):1206–14.
- 63. Heidbuchel H, Verhamme P, Alings M, Antz M, Hacke W, Oldgren J, et al. EHRA practical guide on the use of new oral anticoagulants in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation: executive summary. Eur Heart J. 2013 Jul;34(27):2094–106.
- 64. Heidbuchel H, Verhamme P, Alings M, Antz M, Diener H-C, Hacke W, et al. Updated European Heart Rhythm Association Practical Guide on the use of non-vitamin K antagonist anticoagulants in patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2015 Oct;17(10):1467–507.
- 65. Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray JJV, Lopes RD, Hylek EM, Hanna M, et al. Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2011 Sep 15;365(11):981–92.
- 66. Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, et al. Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2009 Sep 17;361(12):1139–51.
- 67. Giugliano RP, Ruff CT, Braunwald E, Murphy SA, Wiviott SD, Halperin JL, et al. Edoxaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2013 Nov 28;369(22):2093–104.
- 68. Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, Pan G, Singer DE, Hacke W, et al. Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2011 Sep 8;365(10):883–91.
- 69. Larsen TB, Skjøth F, Nielsen PB, Kjældgaard JN, Lip GYH. Comparative effectiveness and safety of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants and warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation: propensity weighted nationwide cohort study. BMJ. 2016 Jun 16;353:i3189.
- 70. Tepper PG, Mardekian J, Masseria C, Phatak H, Kamble S, Abdulsattar Y, et al. Real-world comparison of bleeding risks among non-valvular atrial fibrillation patients prescribed apixaban, dabigatran, or rivaroxaban. PLoS ONE. 2018;13(11):e0205989.

- 71. Lip GYH, Skjøth F, Nielsen PB, Kjældgaard JN, Larsen TB. Effectiveness and Safety of Standard-Dose Nonvitamin K Antagonist Oral Anticoagulants and Warfarin Among Patients With Atrial Fibrillation With a Single Stroke Risk Factor: A Nationwide Cohort Study. JAMA Cardiol. 2017 Aug 1;2(8):872–81.
- 72. Olesen JB, Sørensen R, Hansen ML, Lamberts M, Weeke P, Mikkelsen AP, et al. Non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulation agents in anticoagulant naïve atrial fibrillation patients: Danish nationwide descriptive data 2011-2013. Europace. 2015 Feb;17(2):187–93.
- Loo SY, Dell'Aniello S, Huiart L, Renoux C. Trends in the prescription of novel oral anticoagulants in UK primary care. Br J Clin Pharmacol. 2017 Sep;83(9):2096–106.
- 74. Holmes DR, Kar S, Price MJ, Whisenant B, Sievert H, Doshi SK, et al. Prospective randomized evaluation of the Watchman Left Atrial Appendage Closure device in patients with atrial fibrillation versus long-term warfarin therapy: the PREVAIL trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Jul 8;64(1):1–12.
- 75. Reddy VY, Doshi SK, Sievert H, Buchbinder M, Neuzil P, Huber K, et al. Percutaneous left atrial appendage closure for stroke prophylaxis in patients with atrial fibrillation: 2.3-Year Follow-up of the PROTECT AF (Watchman Left Atrial Appendage System for Embolic Protection in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation) Trial. Circulation. 2013 Feb 12;127(6):720–9.
- 76. Blackshear JL, Odell JA. Appendage obliteration to reduce stroke in cardiac surgical patients with atrial fibrillation. Ann Thorac Surg. 1996 Feb;61(2):755–9.
- 77. Waks JW, Manning WJ. Left Atrial Appendage Closure to Reduce the Risk of Thromboembolic Complications in Atrial Fibrillation: Pay Now and Possibly Pay Later? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015 Jun 23;65(24):2624–7.
- 78. Abed HS, Wittert GA, Leong DP, Shirazi MG, Bahrami B, Middeldorp ME, et al. Effect of weight reduction and cardiometabolic risk factor management on symptom burden and severity in patients with atrial fibrillation: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2013 Nov 20;310(19):2050–60.

- 79. Pathak RK, Middeldorp ME, Lau DH, Mehta AB, Mahajan R, Twomey D, et al. Aggressive risk factor reduction study for atrial fibrillation and implications for the outcome of ablation: the ARREST-AF cohort study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2014 Dec 2;64(21):2222–31.
- 80. Gami AS, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Olson EJ, Nykodym J, Kara T, et al. Obstructive sleep apnea, obesity, and the risk of incident atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2007 Feb 6;49(5):565–71.
- 81. Rienstra M, Hobbelt AH, Alings M, Tijssen JGP, Smit MD, Brügemann J, et al. Targeted therapy of underlying conditions improves sinus rhythm maintenance in patients with persistent atrial fibrillation: results of the RACE 3 trial. Eur Heart J. 2018 Aug 21;39(32):2987–96.
- 82. Pathak RK, Middeldorp ME, Meredith M, Mehta AB, Mahajan R, Wong CX, et al. Long-Term Effect of Goal-Directed Weight Management in an Atrial Fibrillation Cohort: A Long-Term Follow-Up Study (LEGACY). J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015 May 26;65(20):2159–69.
- 83. Haïssaguerre M, Jaïs P, Shah DC, Takahashi A, Hocini M, Quiniou G, et al. Spontaneous Initiation of Atrial Fibrillation by Ectopic Beats Originating in the Pulmonary Veins. New England Journal of Medicine. 1998 Sep 3;339(10):659–66.
- 84. Robbins IM, Colvin EV, Doyle TP, Kemp WE, Loyd JE, McMahon WS, et al. Pulmonary vein stenosis after catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. Circulation. 1998 Oct 27;98(17):1769–75.
- 85. Pappone C, Rosanio S, Oreto G, Tocchi M, Gugliotta F, Vicedomini G, et al. Circumferential radiofrequency ablation of pulmonary vein ostia: A new anatomic approach for curing atrial fibrillation. Circulation. 2000 Nov 21;102(21):2619–28.
- 86. Oral H, Knight BP, Ozaydin M, Chugh A, Lai SWK, Scharf C, et al. Segmental ostial ablation to isolate the pulmonary veins during atrial fibrillation: feasibility and mechanistic insights. Circulation. 2002 Sep 3;106(10):1256–62.

- 87. Oral H, Scharf C, Chugh A, Hall B, Cheung P, Good E, et al. Catheter ablation for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: segmental pulmonary vein ostial ablation versus left atrial ablation. Circulation. 2003 Nov 11;108(19):2355–60.
- Lemola K, Oral H, Chugh A, Hall B, Cheung P, Han J, et al. Pulmonary vein isolation as an end point for left atrial circumferential ablation of atrial fibrillation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2005 Sep 20;46(6):1060–6.
- Lemola K, Chartier D, Yeh Y-H, Dubuc M, Cartier R, Armour A, et al. Pulmonary vein region ablation in experimental vagal atrial fibrillation: role of pulmonary veins versus autonomic ganglia. Circulation. 2008 Jan 29;117(4):470–7.
- 90. Knecht S, Hocini M, Wright M, Lellouche N, O'Neill MD, Matsuo S, et al. Left atrial linear lesions are required for successful treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J. 2008 Oct;29(19):2359–66.
- 91. Nademanee K, McKenzie J, Kosar E, Schwab M, Sunsaneewitayakul B, Vasavakul T, et al. A new approach for catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: mapping of the electrophysiologic substrate. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004 Jun 2;43(11):2044–53.
- 92. Kumagai K, Muraoka S, Mitsutake C, Takashima H, Nakashima H. A new approach for complete isolation of the posterior left atrium including pulmonary veins for atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2007 Sep;18(10):1047–52.
- 93. Romero J, Michaud GF, Avendano R, Briceño DF, Kumar S, Carlos Diaz J, et al. Benefit of left atrial appendage electrical isolation for persistent and long-standing persistent atrial fibrillation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Europace 2018 Aug 1;20(8):1268-1278;
- 94. O'Neill MD, Wright M, Knecht S, Jaïs P, Hocini M, Takahashi Y, et al. Long-term follow-up of persistent atrial fibrillation ablation using termination as a procedural endpoint. Eur Heart J. 2009 May 1;30(9):1105–12.

- 95. Buch E, Share M, Tung R, Benharash P, Sharma P, Koneru J, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes of focal impulse and rotor modulation for treatment of atrial fibrillation: A multicenter experience. Heart Rhythm. 2016 Mar;13(3):636–41.
- 96. Lim HS, Derval N, Denis A, Zellerhoff S, Haissaguerre M. Distinct localized reentrant drivers in persistent atrial fibrillation identified by noninvasive mapping: relation to f-wave morphology. Card Electrophysiol Clin. 2015 Mar;7(1):153–5.
- 97. Verma A, Jiang C, Betts TR, Chen J, Deisenhofer I, Mantovan R, et al. Approaches to catheter ablation for persistent atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2015 May 7;372(19):1812–22.
- 98. Huang SK, Bharati S, Graham AR, Lev M, Marcus FI, Odell RC. Closed chest catheter desiccation of the atrioventricular junction using radiofrequency energy--a new method of catheter ablation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1987 Feb;9(2):349–58.
- 99. Yokoyama K, Nakagawa H, Shah DC, Lambert H, Leo G, Aeby N, et al. Novel contact force sensor incorporated in irrigated radiofrequency ablation catheter predicts lesion size and incidence of steam pop and thrombus. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2008 Dec;1(5):354–62.
- 100. Hong KN, Russo MJ, Liberman EA, Trzebucki A, Oz MC, Argenziano M, et al. Effect of epicardial fat on ablation performance: a three-energy source comparison. J Card Surg. 2007 Dec;22(6):521–4.
- 101. Dorwarth U, Fiek M, Remp T, Reithmann C, Dugas M, Steinbeck G, et al. Radiofrequency catheter ablation: different cooled and noncooled electrode systems induce specific lesion geometries and adverse effects profiles. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2003 Jul;26(7 Pt 1):1438–45.
- 102. Matiello M, Mont L, Tamborero D, Berruezo A, Benito B, Gonzalez E, et al. Cooled-tip vs. 8 mm-tip catheter for circumferential pulmonary vein ablation: comparison of efficacy, safety, and lesion extension. Europace. 2008 Aug;10(8):955–60.

- 103. Chang S-L, Tai C-T, Lin Y-J, Lo L-W, Tuan T-C, Udyavar AR, et al. Comparison of cooled-tip versus 4-mm-tip catheter in the efficacy of acute ablative tissue injury during circumferential pulmonary vein isolation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2009 Oct;20(10):1113–8.
- 104. Gaita F, Leclercq JF, Schumacher B, Scaglione M, Toso E, Halimi F, et al. Incidence of silent cerebral thromboembolic lesions after atrial fibrillation ablation may change according to technology used: comparison of irrigated radiofrequency, multipolar nonirrigated catheter and cryoballoon. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2011 Sep;22(9):961–8.
- 105. Hass GM, Taylor CB. A quantitative hypothermal method for production of local injury to tissue. Proc Annu Meet Cent Soc Clin Res U S. 1947;20:49.
- 106. Lister JW, Hoffman BF, Kavaler F. Reversible cold block of the specialized cardiac tissues of the unanaesthetized dog. Science. 1964 Aug 14;145(3633):723–5.
- 107. Dubuc M, Talajic M, Roy D, Thibault B, Leung TK, Friedman PL. Feasibility of cardiac cryoablation using a transvenous steerable electrode catheter. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 1998 Sep;2(3):285–92.
- Pavlovic N, Knecht S, Reichlin T, Sticherling C. Cryoballoon ablation for atrial fibrillation. Interventional Cardiology. 2014;6(4):373–82.
- 109. Gaita F, Haissaguerre M, Giustetto C, Grossi S, Caruzzo E, Bianchi F, et al. Safety and efficacy of cryoablation of accessory pathways adjacent to the normal conduction system. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2003 Aug;14(8):825–9.
- 110. Kettering K, Al-Ghobainy R, Wehrmann M, Vonthein R, Mewis C. Atrial linear lesions: feasibility using cryoablation. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2006 Mar;29(3):283–9.
- 111. Tse H-F, Reek S, Timmermans C, Lee KL-F, Geller JC, Rodriguez L-M, et al. Pulmonary vein isolation using transvenous catheter cryoablation for treatment of atrial fibrillation without risk of pulmonary vein stenosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003 Aug 20;42(4):752–8.

- 112. Boersma LVA, Wijffels MCEF, Oral H, Wever EFD, Morady F. Pulmonary vein isolation by duty-cycled bipolar and unipolar radiofrequency energy with a multielectrode ablation catheter. Heart Rhythm. 2008 Dec;5(12):1635–42.
- 113. De Greef Y, Dekker L, Boersma L, Murray S, Wieczorek M, Spitzer SG, et al. Low rate of asymptomatic cerebral embolism and improved procedural efficiency with the novel pulmonary vein ablation catheter GOLD: results of the PRECISION GOLD trial. Europace. 2016 May;18(5):687–95.
- 114. Leitz P, Güner F, Wasmer K, Foraita P, Pott C, Dechering DG, et al. Data on procedural handling and complications of pulmonary vein isolation using the pulmonary vein ablation catheter GOLD®. Europace. 2016 May;18(5):696–701.
- 115. Deneke T, Schade A, Müller P, Schmitt R, Christopoulos G, Krug J, et al. Acute Safety and Efficacy of a Novel Multipolar Irrigated Radiofrequency Ablation Catheter for Pulmonary Vein Isolation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2013 Nov 14;
- 116. Deneke T, Schade A, Müller P, Schmitt R, Christopoulos G, Krug J, et al. Acute safety and efficacy of a novel multipolar irrigated radiofrequency ablation catheter for pulmonary vein isolation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014 Apr;25(4):339–45.
- 117. Burri H, Park C-I, Poku N, Giraudet P, Stettler C, Zimmermann M. Pulmonary Vein Isolation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation Using a Circular Multipolar Ablation Catheter: Safety and Efficacy Using Low-Power Settings. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2016 Feb;27(2):170–4.
- 118. Stabile G, De Ruvo E, Grimaldi M, Rovaris G, Soldati E, Anselmino M, et al. Safety and efficacy of pulmonary vein isolation using a circular, open-irrigated mapping and ablation catheter: A multicenter registry. Heart Rhythm. 2015 Aug;12(8):1782–8.
- 119. Zellerhoff S, Daly M, Lim HS, Denis A, Komatsu Y, Jesel L, et al. Pulmonary vein isolation using a circular, open irrigated mapping and ablation catheter (nMARQ): a report on feasibility and efficacy. Europace. 2014 Sep;16(9):1296–303.

- 120. Deneke T, Schade A, Diegeler A, Nentwich K. Esophago-pericardial fistula complicating atrial fibrillation ablation using a novel irrigated radiofrequency multipolar ablation catheter. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014 Apr;25(4):442-443.
- 121. Arroja JD, Zimmermann M. Phrenic nerve lesion: a potential complication of the nMARQ ablation technique. Int J Cardiol. 2015 Feb 1;180:91–2.
- 122. Vurma M, Dang L, Brunner-La Rocca H-P, Sütsch G, Attenhofer-Jost CH, Duru F, et al. Safety and efficacy of the nMARQ catheter for paroxysmal and persistent atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2016 Aug;18(8):1164–9.
- Pavlović N, Knecht S, Reichlin T, Kühne M, Sticherling C. Cryoballoon ablation for atrial fibrillation. Interventional Cardiology. 6(4):373–382.
- 124. Packer DL, Kowal RC, Wheelan KR, Irwin JM, Champagne J, Guerra PG, et al. Cryoballoon ablation of pulmonary veins for paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: first results of the North American Arctic Front (STOP AF) pivotal trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013 Apr 23;61(16):1713–23.
- 125. Fürnkranz A, Bordignon S, Schmidt B, Gunawardene M, Schulte-Hahn B, Urban V, et al. Improved procedural efficacy of pulmonary vein isolation using the novel second-generation cryoballoon. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2013 May;24(5):492–7.
- 126. Metzner A, Reissmann B, Rausch P, Mathew S, Wohlmuth P, Tilz R, et al. One-year clinical outcome after pulmonary vein isolation using the second-generation 28-mm cryoballoon. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2014 Apr;7(2):288–92.
- 127. Bordignon S, Fürnkranz A, Perrotta L, Dugo D, Konstantinou A, Nowak B, et al. High rate of durable pulmonary vein isolation after second-generation cryoballoon ablation: analysis of repeat procedures. Europace. 2015 May;17(5):725–31.

- 128. Kuck K-H, Brugada J, Fürnkranz A, Metzner A, Ouyang F, Chun KRJ, et al. Cryoballoon or Radiofrequency Ablation for Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2016 Jun 9;374(23):2235–45.
- 129. Kuck K-H, Fürnkranz A, Chun KRJ, Metzner A, Ouyang F, Schlüter M, et al. Cryoballoon or radiofrequency ablation for symptomatic paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: reintervention, rehospitalization, and quality-of-life outcomes in the FIRE AND ICE trial. Eur Heart J. 2016 Oct 7;37(38):2858–65.
- 130. Akkaya E, Berkowitsch A, Zaltsberg S, Greiss H, Hamm CW, Sperzel J, et al. Ice or fire? Comparison of second-generation cryoballoon ablation and radiofrequency ablation in patients with symptomatic persistent atrial fibrillation and an enlarged left atrium. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2018 Mar;29(3):375-384.
- 131. Ciconte G, Baltogiannis G, de Asmundis C, Sieira J, Conte G, Di Giovanni G, et al. Circumferential pulmonary vein isolation as index procedure for persistent atrial fibrillation: a comparison between radiofrequency catheter ablation and second-generation cryoballoon ablation. Europace. 2015 Apr;17(4):559–65.
- 132. Dukkipati SR, Cuoco F, Kutinsky I, Aryana A, Bahnson TD, Lakkireddy D, et al. Pulmonary Vein Isolation Using the Visually Guided Laser Balloon: A Prospective, Multicenter, and Randomized Comparison to Standard Radiofrequency Ablation. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015 Sep 22;66(12):1350–60.
- 133. Meininger GR, Calkins H, Lickfett L, Lopath P, Fjield T, Pacheco R, et al. Initial experience with a novel focused ultrasound ablation system for ring ablation outside the pulmonary vein. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2003 Apr;8(2):141–8.
- 134. Metzner A, Chun KRJ, Neven K, Fuernkranz A, Ouyang F, Antz M, et al. Long-term clinical outcome following pulmonary vein isolation with high-intensity focused ultrasound balloon catheters in patients with paroxysmal atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2010 Feb;12(2):188–93.

- 135. Neven K, Schmidt B, Metzner A, Otomo K, Nuyens D, De Potter T, et al. Fatal end of a safety algorithm for pulmonary vein isolation with use of high-intensity focused ultrasound. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2010 Jun;3(3):260–5.
- Siontis KC, Oral H. Novel Interventional Strategies for the Treatment of Atrial Fibrillation.
 Arrhythm Electrophysiol Rev. 2016 May;5(1):50–6.
- 137. Nedios S, Sommer P, Bollmann A, Hindricks G. Advanced Mapping Systems To Guide Atrial Fibrillation Ablation: Electrical Information That Matters. J Atr Fibrillation [Internet]. 2016 Apr 30 [cited 2018 Jan 22];8(6). Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5089464/
- 138. Kistler PM, Rajappan K, Jahngir M, Earley MJ, Harris S, Abrams D, et al. The impact of CT image integration into an electroanatomic mapping system on clinical outcomes of catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2006 Oct;17(10):1093–101.
- 139. Della Bella P, Fassini G, Cireddu M, Riva S, Carbucicchio C, Giraldi F, et al. Image integrationguided catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation: a prospective randomized study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2009 Mar;20(3):258–65.
- 140. Knecht S, Sticherling C, Reichlin T, Pavlovic N, Mühl A, Schaer B, et al. Effective reduction of fluoroscopy duration by using an advanced electroanatomic-mapping system and a standardized procedural protocol for ablation of atrial fibrillation: "the unleaded study." Europace. 2015 Nov;17(11):1694–9.
- 141. Pavlović N, Reichlin T, Kühne M, Knecht S, Osswald S, Sticherling C. Fluoroscopy-free recrossing of the interatrial septum during left atrial ablation procedures. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2014 Dec;41(3):261–6.
- 142. Kühne M, Knecht S, Mühl A, Reichlin T, Pavlović N, Kessel-Schaefer A, et al. Fluoroscopy-Free Pulmonary Vein Isolation in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation and a Patent Foramen Ovale Using Solely an Electroanatomic Mapping System. PLoS ONE. 2016;11(1):e0148059.

- 143. Marijon E, Fazaa S, Narayanan K, Guy-Moyat B, Bouzeman A, Providencia R, et al. Real-time contact force sensing for pulmonary vein isolation in the setting of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: procedural and 1-year results. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014 Feb;25(2):130–7.
- 144. Reddy VY, Shah D, Kautzner J, Schmidt B, Saoudi N, Herrera C, et al. The relationship between contact force and clinical outcome during radiofrequency catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation in the TOCCATA study. Heart Rhythm. 2012 Nov;9(11):1789–95.
- 145. Taghji P, El Haddad M, Phlips T, Wolf M, Knecht S, Vandekerckhove Y, et al. Evaluation of a Strategy Aiming to Enclose the Pulmonary Veins With Contiguous and Optimized Radiofrequency Lesions in Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: A Pilot Study. JACC Clin Electrophysiol. 2018 Jan;4(1):99–108.
- 146. Pavlovic N, Manola S, Radeljic V, Benko I, Kühne M, Sticherling C. Transseptal catheterization. 2014;9(3–4):127–33.
- 147. Kim J-S, Jongnarangsin K, Latchamsetty R, Chugh A, Ghanbari H, Crawford T, et al. The optimal range of international normalized ratio for radiofrequency catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation during therapeutic anticoagulation with warfarin. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2013 Apr;6(2):302–9.
- 148. Kim J-S, She F, Jongnarangsin K, Chugh A, Latchamsetty R, Ghanbari H, et al. Dabigatran vs warfarin for radiofrequency catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm. 2013 Apr;10(4):483–9.
- 149. Shin D-I, Kirmanoglou K, Eickholt C, Schmidt J, Clasen L, Butzbach B, et al. Initial results of using a novel irrigated multielectrode mapping and ablation catheter for pulmonary vein isolation. Heart Rhythm. 2014 Mar;11(3):375–83.
- 150. Schmidt M, Dorwarth U, Andresen D, Brachmann J, Kuck K-H, Kuniss M, et al. Cryoballoon versus RF Ablation in Paroxysmal Atrial Fibrillation: Results from the German Ablation Registry. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2014 Jan;25(1):1–7.

- 151. Beukema RJ, Elvan A, Smit JJJ, Delnoy PPHM, Misier ARR, Reddy V. Pulmonary vein isolation to treat paroxysmal atrial fibrillation: conventional versus multi-electrode radiofrequency ablation. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2012 Aug;34(2):143–52.
- 152. Rosso R, Halkin A, Michowitz Y, Belhassen B, Glick A, Viskin S. Radiofrequency ablation of paroxysmal atrial fibrillation with the new irrigated multipolar nMARQ ablation catheter: Verification of intracardiac signals with a second circular mapping catheter. Heart Rhythm. 2014 Apr;11(4):559–65.
- 153. Mahida S, Hooks DA, Nentwich K, Ng GA, Grimaldi M, Shin D-I, et al. nMARQ Ablation for Atrial Fibrillation: Results from a Multicenter Study. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2015 Jul;26(7):724–9.
- 154. Shin D-I, Kirmanoglou K, Eickholt C, Schmidt J, Clasen L, Butzbach B, et al. Initial results of using a novel irrigated multielectrode mapping and ablation catheter for pulmonary vein isolation. Heart Rhythm. 2014 Mar;11(3):375–83.
- 155. Klein LW, Miller DL, Balter S, Laskey W, Haines D, Norbash A, et al. Occupational health hazards in the interventional laboratory: time for a safer environment. Heart Rhythm. 2009 Mar;6(3):439–44.
- 156. Ferguson JD, Helms A, Mangrum JM, Mahapatra S, Mason P, Bilchick K, et al. Catheter ablation of atrial fibrillation without fluoroscopy using intracardiac echocardiography and electroanatomic mapping. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2009 Dec;2(6):611–9.
- 157. Mühl A, Kühne M, Sticherling C, Knecht S. Fluoroscopy-Free PVI With nMARQ(TM) in a Patient With a PFO. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2015 Aug;26(8):906.
- 158. von Bary C, Weber S, Dornia C, Eissnert C, Fellner C, Latzin P, et al. Evaluation of pulmonary vein stenosis after pulmonary vein isolation using a novel circular mapping and ablation catheter (PVAC). Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2011 Oct;4(5):630–6.

- 159. Schmidt B, Gunawardene M, Krieg D, Bordignon S, Fürnkranz A, Kulikoglu M, et al. A prospective randomized single-center study on the risk of asymptomatic cerebral lesions comparing irrigated radiofrequency current ablation with the cryoballoon and the laser balloon. J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol. 2013 Aug;24(8):869–74.
- 160. Grimaldi M, Swarup V, DeVille B, Sussman J, Jaïs P, Gaita F, et al. Importance of anticoagulation and postablation silent cerebral lesions: Subanalyses of REVOLUTION and reMARQable studies. Pacing Clin Electrophysiol. 2017 Dec;40(12):1432–9.
- 161. Ghia KK, Chugh A, Good E, Pelosi F, Jongnarangsin K, Bogun F, et al. A nationwide survey on the prevalence of atrioesophageal fistula after left atrial radiofrequency catheter ablation. J Interv Card Electrophysiol. 2009 Jan;24(1):33–6.
- 162. Knecht S, Sticherling C, Reichlin T, Mühl A, Pavlovic N, Schaer B, et al. Reliability of luminal oesophageal temperature monitoring during radiofrequency ablation of atrial fibrillation: insights from probe visualization and oesophageal reconstruction using magnetic resonance imaging. Europace. 2017 Jul 1;19(7):1123–31.
- 163. Halm U, Gaspar T, Zachäus M, Sack S, Arya A, Piorkowski C, et al. Thermal esophageal lesions after radiofrequency catheter ablation of left atrial arrhythmias. Am J Gastroenterol. 2010 Mar;105(3):551–6.
- 164. Ahmed H, Neuzil P, d'Avila A, Cha Y-M, Laragy M, Mares K, et al. The esophageal effects of cryoenergy during cryoablation for atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm. 2009 Jul;6(7):962–9.
- 165. Hummel J, Michaud G, Hoyt R, DeLurgio D, Rasekh A, Kusumoto F, et al. Phased RF ablation in persistent atrial fibrillation. Heart Rhythm. 2014 Feb;11(2):202–9.
- 166. Oral H, Pappone C, Chugh A, Good E, Bogun F, Pelosi F, et al. Circumferential pulmonaryvein ablation for chronic atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med. 2006 Mar 2;354(9):934–41.

- 167. Mont L, Bisbal F, Hernández-Madrid A, Pérez-Castellano N, Viñolas X, Arenal A, et al. Catheter ablation vs. antiarrhythmic drug treatment of persistent atrial fibrillation: a multicentre, randomized, controlled trial (SARA study). Eur Heart J. 2014 Feb;35(8):501–7.
- 168. Pavlović N, Sticherling C, Knecht S, Reichlin T, Mühl A, Schaer B, et al. One-year follow-up after irrigated multi-electrode radiofrequency ablation of persistent atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2016 Jan;18(1):85–91.

11. CV

Nikola Pavlović was born in 1981 in Zagreb where he finished primary school and high school. In 2005 he graduated from University of Zagreb Medical School. He finished his one year residency 2005 to 2006 at University Hospital ,'Sestre milosrdnice'' and passed medical license exam in 2006. From 2007 to 2011 he was Internal medicine fellow at University Hospital ,'Sestre milosrdnice'' and in June 2011 he passed the Internal medicine exam. Since then he has been working on Cardiology department at University Hospital Centre ,'Sestre milosrdnice''. His primary interests are arythmonology, clinical electrophysiology, ablation and cardiac pacing. From September 2013 to September 2014 he was electrophysiology fellow in University Hospital Basel, Switzerland as part of European Heart Rhythm Association (EHRA) Fellowship in Advanced Electrophysiology where he was additionally trained in complex arrhythmia ablation and device implantations. He also received additional training during short visits in University Hospital Centre Ljubljana, Slovenia; Bratislava, Slovakia, Dresden and Frankfurt Germany;

In 2014 he completed the EHRA Electrophysiology exam, and achieved Level 1 EHRA certification in electrophysiology. After verifying prerequired number of different ablation procedures perfumed he achieved full Level 2 EHRA certification in cardiac electrophysiology.

Nikola Pavlović actively participated in several Croatian and international congresses as well as EHRA faculty for EHRA courses and during EHRA congresses.

He is a member of Croatian Medical Chamber, Croatian Society of Cardiology, European Society of Cardiology, European Heart Rhythm Association, and European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions. In 2018 he became an active member of EHRA Young electrophysiologists committee and served as a member of EHRA Certification Committee during two EHRA Boards. In 2018 he was appointed as a member of European Society of Cardiology Membership Committee. In 2017 he became a Fellow of the European Society of Cardiology.

Nikola Pavlović published more than 50 papers in indexed journals among which 20 are indexed in Current Contents. He is participating in several randomized controlled trials as co-investigator or principal investigator in Croatia. He is a reviewer for 8 international, peer reviewed journals and ESC reviewer for ESC guidelines on supraventricular tachycardia and ESC guidelines on atrial fibrillation. Also, he serves as a reviewer for EHRA consensus documents.